## Lance J.M. Steinhart, P.C.

Attorney At Law 1725 Windward Concourse Suite 150 Alpharetta, Georgia 30005

Also Admitted in New York and Maryland

Telephone: (770) 232-9200 Facsimile: (770) 232-9208 Email: lsteinhart@telecomcounsel.com

March 22, 2022

#### VIA EMAIL to psc@utah.gov

Utah Public Service Commission 160 East 300 South Salt Lake City, UT 84114 Attn: Casey Coleman Commission Administrator

Re: AirVoice Wireless, LLC d/b/a AirTalk Wireless - Petition for Designation as an Eligible Telecommunications Carrier in the State of Utah

Dear Mr. Coleman

Enclosed please find for filing AirVoice Wireless, LLC d/b/a AirTalk Wireless's Petition for Designation as an Eligible Telecommunications Carrier in the State of Utah.

If you have any questions or if I may provide you with any additional information, please do not hesitate to contact me. Thank you for your attention to this matter.

Respectfully submitted,

Lance J.M. Steinhart, Esq. Managing Attorney Lance J.M. Steinhart, P.C. *Attorneys for AirVoice Wireless, LLC d/b/a AirTalk Wireless* 

Enclosures cc: Henry Do

## **BEFORE THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF UTAH**

)

)

)

In the Matter of the Petition of AirVoice Wireless, LLC d/b/a AirTalk Wireless

Docket No.

for Designation as an Eligible Telecommunications Carrier in the State of Utah And to Participate in the Utah Universal Service Fund

## PETITION OF AIRVOICE WIRELESS, LLC D/B/A AIRTALK WIRELESS FOR DESIGNATION AS AN ELIGIBLE TELECOMMUNICATIONS CARRIER IN THE STATE OF UTAH AND TO PARTICIPATE IN THE UTAH UNIVERSAL SERVICE FUND

## PETITION

Lance J.M. Steinhart Managing Attorney Lance J.M. Steinhart, P.C. 1725 Windward Concourse, Suite 150 Alpharetta, Georgia 30005 (770) 232-9200 (Phone) (770) 232-9208 (Fax) E-Mail: <u>lsteinhart@telecomcounsel.com</u>

Attorneys for AirVoice Wireless, LLC d/b/a AirTalk Wireless

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

I.	INTRODUCTION	1
II.	COMPANY OVERVIEW	3
III.	THE COMMISSION HAS JURISDICTION OVER DESIGNATION OF WIRELESS ETCS	6
IV.	AIRVOICE SATISFIES THE REQUIREMENTS FOR DESIGNATION AS AN ETC UNDER 47 C.F.R. § 54.201	7
V.	AIRVOICE SATISFIES THE ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS FOR ETC DESIGNATION UNDER 47 C.F.R. § 54.202(a)	.14
VI.	DESIGNATION OF AIRVOICE AS AN ETC WOULD PROMOTE THE PUBLIC INTEREST	.22
VII.	CONCLUSION	.27

# TABLE OF EXHIBITS

# <u>Exhibit</u>

Certification	1
FCC-Approved Compliance Plan	2
Coverage Area	3
Key Management Bios	4
Proposed Lifeline Offering	5
Sample Advertisement	6

## **BEFORE THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF UTAH**

In the Matter of the Petition of AirVoice Wireless, LLC d/b/a AirTalk Wireless

Docket No.

for Designation as an Eligible Telecommunications Carrier in the State of Utah And to Participate in the Utah Universal Service Fund

## PETITION OF AIRVOICE WIRELESS, LLC D/B/A AIRTALK WIRELESS FOR DESIGNATION AS AN ELIGIBLE TELECOMMUNICATIONS CARRIER IN THE STATE OF UTAH AND TO PARTICIPATE IN THE UTAH UNIVERSAL SERVICE FUND

)

## I. INTRODUCTION

AirVoice Wireless, LLC d/b/a AirTalk Wireless ("AirVoice" or the "Company"), by its undersigned counsel, and pursuant to Section 214(e)(2) of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended (the "Act"),<sup>1</sup> Sections 54.101 through 54.207 of the Rules of the Federal Communications Commission ("FCC"),<sup>2</sup> and the rules and regulations of the Utah Public Service Commission ("Commission"), hereby submits this Petition for Designation as an Eligible Telecommunications Carrier ("ETC") in the State of Utah and to Participate in the Utah Universal Service Funds ("Utah USF") (this "Petition").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> 47 U.S.C. § 214(e)(2)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> 47 C.F.R. §§ 54.101-54.207.

AirVoice seeks ETC designation solely to provide Lifeline service to qualifying Utah consumers; it will not (and is not eligible to) seek access to funds from the federal Universal Service Fund ("USF") for the purpose of participating in the Link-Up program or providing service to high-cost areas.<sup>3</sup>

As demonstrated herein, and as certified in Exhibit 1 attached hereto, AirVoice meets all the statutory and regulatory requirements for designation as an ETC in the State of Utah, including the requirements outlined in the FCC's *Lifeline and Link Up Reform Order*,<sup>4</sup> *Lifeline Modernization Order*,<sup>5</sup> and *Fifth Report and Order*.<sup>6</sup> Furthermore, AirVoice is positioned to reach unserved and underserved Lifeline-eligible consumers. Rapid grant of AirVoice's request, therefore, would advance the public interest because it would enable the Company to commence much needed Lifeline services to a wide array of low-income Utah residents as soon as possible. Accordingly, the Company respectfully requests that the Commission expeditiously approve this Petition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Given that the Company only seeks Lifeline support from the low-income program and does not seek any high-cost support, ETC certification requirements for the high-cost program are not applicable to the Company.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In the Matter of Lifeline and Link Up Reform and Modernization, Lifeline and Link Up, Federal-State Joint Board on Universal Service, Advancing Broadband Availability Through Digital Literacy Training, WC Docket No. 11-42, WC Docket No. 03-109, CC Docket No. 96-45, WC Docket No. 12-23, Report and Order and Further Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, FCC 12-11 (rel. Feb. 6, 2012) ("Lifeline and Link Up Reform Order").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In the Matter of Lifeline and Link Up Reform and Modernization, Telecommunications Carriers Eligible for Universal Service Support, Connect America Fund, WC Docket No. 11-42, WC Docket No. 09-197, WC Docket No. 10-90, Third Report and Order, Further Report and Order, and Order on Reconsideration, FCC 16-38 (rel. Apr. 27, 2016) (hereinafter, "Third Report and Order" or "Lifeline Modernization Order").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> In the Matter of Bridging the Digital Divide for Low-Income Consumers, Lifeline and Link Up Reform and Modernization, Telecommunications Carriers Eligible for Universal Service Support, WC Docket No. 17-287, WC Docket No. 11-42, WC Docket No. 09-197, Fifth Report and Order, Memorandum Opinion and Order and Order on Reconsideration, and Further Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, FCC 19-111 (rel. Nov. 14, 2019) (hereinafter, "Fifth Report and Order").

All correspondence, communications, pleadings, notices, orders and decisions relating to

this Petition should be addressed to:

Lance J.M. Steinhart Managing Attorney Lance J.M. Steinhart, P.C. Attorneys for AirVoice Wireless, LLC d/b/a AirTalk Wireless 1725 Windward Concourse, Suite 150 Alpharetta, Georgia 30005 (770) 232-9200 (Phone) (770) 232-9208 (Fax) E-Mail: lsteinhart@telecomcounsel.com

### II. COMPANY OVERVIEW

AirVoice is a Michigan limited liability company,<sup>7</sup> with its principal office located at 9920 Brooklet Drive, Houston, Texas 77099. AirVoice is a provider of commercial mobile radio service ("CMRS") and provides prepaid wireless telecommunications services to consumers by using the underlying wireless networks of AT&T Mobility LLC and T-Mobile USA, Inc. ( its "Underlying Carriers") on a wholesale basis. AirVoice obtains the network infrastructure and wireless transmission facilities from its Underlying Carriers to allow the Company to operate as a Mobile Virtual Network Operator ("MVNO").

AirVoice is currently designated as an ETC and providing Lifeline services in the following jurisdictions: California, Kentucky, Michigan, Mississippi, New York, Ohio, Oklahoma, Pennsylvania, South Carolina and Wisconsin. AirVoice also provides non-Lifeline mobile phone services and is an approved provider of broadband services under the FCC's Affordable Connectivity Program ("ACP"). AirVoice is a wholly owned subsidiary of VTel Holdings, LLC, a Texas limited liability company ("VTel"). Henry Hung Do, a United States

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> AirVoice was formed in the State of Michigan on May 7, 1999.

citizen and a resident of the State of Texas, owns one hundred percent (100%) of: (a) VTel, which was formed to acquire 100% ownership interest in AirVoice; (b) Cintex Wireless, LLC d/b/a SFone Wireless, a Delaware limited liability company ("Cintex"), that provides Lifeline-only wireless services as an ETC in Arkansas, Maryland, Maine, Rhode Island, and West Virginia and non-Lifeline wireless services throughout the United States, and is approved to provide ACP services in over 45 jurisdictions; (c) NewPhone Wireless, LLC, a Louisiana limited liability company ("NewPhone"), that is authorized to provide non-Lifeline wireless service throughout the United States and ACP services in over 45 jurisdictions, and provides Lifeline-only wireless services as an ETC in Louisiana; (d) HTH Communications, LLC, a Texas limited liability company, a global and one of the largest mobile device distributors in the United States, which has been in business for more than thirteen (13) years; (e) SofTel Technologies, LLC, a Texas limited liability company, that provides distribution services to wireless providers; and (f) Softel Holdings, LLC, a Texas limited liability company which was formed to acquire 100% ownership interest in TAG Mobile, LLC ("TAG Mobile")<sup>8</sup>, a limited liability company organized under the laws of the State of Texas. TAG Mobile provides wireless Lifeline services to customers in the following nineteen (19) states in which it has been designated an ETC: Arizona, Arkansas, California, Colorado, Iowa, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maine, Maryland, Michigan, Minnesota, Missouri, Nevada, Oklahoma, Pennsylvania, South Carolina, Texas, West Virginia and Wisconsin.<sup>9</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> In connection with the proposed transaction with Softel Holdings, LLC (the "Transaction"), TAG Mobile formed TAG Mobile Bankruptcy Sale Entity, LLC ("New TAG Mobile") as a wholly owned subsidiary. New TAG Mobile is a Texas limited liability company created to receive the regulated assets of TAG Mobile at the closing of the Transaction. New TAG Mobile currently owns no assets and has no debts. Upon consummation of the Transaction, New TAG Mobile will acquire all of the regulated assets of TAG Mobile, including its Lifeline customers, wireless authorizations and its designations as an ETC. Thereafter, New TAG Mobile will operate pursuant to those wireless authorizations and designations to provide Lifeline services to eligible consumers in its designated service areas.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> TAG Mobile holds Section 214 authority from the FCC. Filings for necessary approvals of the Transaction in connection with this authority are pending with the FCC.

Under current ownership, neither AirVoice nor its affiliates have been subject to enforcement sanctions related to the Low-Income Fund or ETC revocation proceedings in any state except as noted below.<sup>10</sup>

AirVoice will provide affordable prepaid mobile phone service and high-quality customer service. AirVoice's service offering will include: (1) local and long-distance calling; (2) access to the following custom calling features at no charge: (a) Caller ID; (b) Call Waiting; (c) Call Forwarding; (d) 3-Way Calling; and (e) Voicemail; (3) text messaging; (4) broadband access; and (5) the option for a consumer to "bring their own device". AirVoice may offer user-friendly handsets or hotspot devices. AirVoice's products and plans will be specially geared toward serving lower income communities, especially in rural areas that are predominantly unserved by other ETCs designated in the state, and its service models and pricing plans will reflect this mission. The Company will not require service contracts from its customers, and it will always ensure competitively low pricing for its services and products. AirVoice will manage all aspects of the customer experience, including setting service pricing, handset selection, marketing materials, and live customer service. The Company's prepaid, budget-friendly pricing will give many lowincome consumers the option of having mobile phone service and broadband access without the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Pursuant to a Membership Interest Purchase Agreement dated February 6, 2019, Henry Hung Do purchased 100% of the equity of Cintex. Pursuant to an Order and Consent Decree adopted on December 22, 2017, Cintex settled a Notice of Apparent Liability with the FCC (*See* File No. EB-IHD-13-00010671), which all occurred under prior ownership and management. By Order adopted December 16, 2021 (*See* File No. EB-IHD-20-00031449), NewPhone entered into a Consent Decree with the Enforcement Bureau of the FCC for the purpose of terminating the Bureau's investigation on whether NewPhone, as an ETC, claimed support from the Lifeline program of the Universal Service Fund (USF or Fund) for duplicate or otherwise ineligible subscribers. On September 23, 2020, the Bureau issued NewPhone an LOI to obtain information about the claims in question. NewPhone filed its response to the LOI on November 23, 2021. Within weeks after USAC notified NewPhone of the apparently improper use of beneficiary data, the Company terminated its relationship with the Marketing Agents involved in the enrollments. USAC worked with NewPhone from early August through October 2020 to address the issues raised by the claims. On October 30, 2020, NewPhone submitted revised claims which USAC agreed addressed the full amount at issue in its investigation. Because USAC determined NewPhone had promptly submitted revised claims in the full amount USAC sought, there was no need to issue a recovery letter. To resolve the matter, NewPhone agreed to implement a compliance plan and make a \$100,000 settlement payment.

burden of hidden costs, varying monthly charges, or contractual commitments. Customers will be able to customize their AirVoice service to suit their needs with AirVoice's available bundles of minutes, broadband data, and text packages to supplement their monthly plan.

AirVoice's Lifeline customers will be low-income consumer households, and the majority are unlikely to have had phone service or broadband access of any kind prior to enrollment. AirVoice's customers will depend on, and benefit greatly from, AirVoice's inexpensive and flexible pricing plans. AirVoice will not impose credit checks, nor will it require any deposits or contractual commitments. AirVoice's Customers may turn to AirVoice because they cannot afford the postpaid services provided by traditional wireless carriers. AirVoice will affirmatively reach out to the low-income sector of the consumer base to offer attractive and affordable communications options. As such, AirVoice will contribute to the expansion of mobile wireless and broadband services for low-income consumers in Utah.

# III. THE COMMISSION HAS JURISDICTION OVER DESIGNATION OF WIRELESS ETCS

Section 214(e)(2) of the Act provides state public utility commissions with the "primary responsibility" for the designation of ETCs.<sup>11</sup> Although Section 332(c)(3)(A) of the Act prohibits states from regulating the entry of or the rates charged by any provider of commercial mobile service or any private mobile service, this prohibition does not allow states to deny wireless carriers ETC status.<sup>12</sup> Under the Act, a state public utility commission with jurisdictional authority over ETC designations must designate a common carrier as an ETC if the carrier satisfies the requirements of Section 214(e)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> 47 U.S.C. § 214(e)(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> USF Order, at 8858–59, ¶ 145.

AirVoice recognizes that Section 214(e)(1)(A) of the Act states that ETCs shall offer services, at least in part, over their own facilities and that Section 54.201(i) of the FCC's Rules (47 C.F.R. § 54.201(i)) prohibits state commissions from designating as an ETC a telecommunications carrier that offers services exclusively through the resale of another carrier's services. However, the FCC has granted forbearance from enforcement of this facilities requirement to carriers seeking Lifeline-only ETC designation.<sup>13</sup> Section 10(e) of the Act (47 U.S.C. § 160(e)) provides: "[a] State commission may not continue to apply or enforce any provision of this chapter that the [Federal Communications] Commission has determined to forbear from applying under subsection (a) of this section." As such, the Commission is required by Section 10(e) to act in accordance with the FCC's grant of forbearance, and therefore, may not apply the facilities-based requirement to AirVoice. Therefore, the Commission has the authority under Section 214(e)(2) of the Act to grant AirVoice's request for designation as an ETC throughout the State of Utah.

# IV. AIRVOICE SATISFIES THE REQUIREMENTS FOR DESIGNATION AS AN ETC UNDER 47 C.F.R. § 54.201

Section 254(e) of the Act provides that, "only an eligible telecommunications carrier designated under section 214(e) shall be eligible to receive specific federal universal service support." Section 214(e)(2) of the Act authorizes state commissions, such as the Commission, to designate ETC status for federal universal service purposes and authorizes the Commission to designate wireless ETCs.<sup>14</sup> Section 214(e)(1) of the Act and Section 54.201(d) of the FCC's rules provide that applicants for ETC designation must be common carriers that shall, throughout the designated service area, offer all of the services supported by universal service, either using their

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> See Lifeline and Link Up Reform Order at ¶ 368.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> See Federal-State Joint Board on Universal Service, First Report and Order, 12 FCC Rcd 8776, 8858-59, ¶ 145 (1997) ("USF Order").

own facilities or a combination of their own facilities and the resale of another carrier's services, except where the FCC has forborne from the "own facilities" requirement. Applicants also must commit to advertise the availability and rates of such services.<sup>15</sup> As detailed below, AirVoice satisfies each of the above-listed requirements.

## A. AirVoice Will Provide Service Consistent with the FCC's Grant of Forbearance from Section 214's Facilities Requirements

Although Section 214 requires ETCs to provide services using their facilities, at least in part, the FCC has forborne from that requirement with respect to carriers such as AirVoice. In the *Lifeline and Link Up Reform Order*, the FCC granted forbearance from the "own-facilities" requirement contained in Section 214(e)(1)(A) for carriers that are, or seek to become, Lifeline-only ETCs, subject to the following conditions:<sup>16</sup>

(1) the carrier must comply with certain 911 requirements [(a) providing its Lifeline subscribers with 911 and E911 access, regardless of activation status and availability of minutes; (b) providing its Lifeline subscribers with E911-compliant handsets and replacing, at no additional charge to the subscriber, noncompliant handsets of Lifeline-eligible subscribers who obtain Lifeline-supported services; and (c) complying with conditions (a) and (b) starting on the effective date of this Order]; and

(2) the carrier must file, and the Bureau must approve, a compliance plan providing specific information regarding the carrier's service offerings and outlining the measures the carrier will take to implement the obligations contained in this Order as well as further safeguards against waste, fraud and abuse the Bureau may deem necessary.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> See 47 U.S.C. § 214(e)(1) and 47 C.F.R. § 54.201(d)(2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> See Lifeline and Link Up Reform Order at ¶¶ 368, 373, and 379.

In accordance with the *Lifeline and Link Up Reform Order*, AirVoice filed a Compliance Plan with the FCC, which the FCC approved on December 26, 2012.<sup>17</sup> The FCC approved AirVoice's Revised Compliance Plan on December 23, 2021<sup>18</sup> as the final condition to the Company's transfer of control to VTel. A copy of the Company's current FCC-Approved Compliance Plan is attached hereto as Exhibit 2. AirVoice commits to providing Lifeline service in Utah in accordance with its FCC-approved Compliance Plan and in compliance with applicable state and federal regulations, to the extent amendments thereto may supersede commitments made in the Compliance Plan.

### **B.** AirVoice Is a Common Carrier

CMRS providers like AirVoice are treated as common carriers.<sup>19</sup>

## C. AirVoice Will Provide All Supported Services

Through its Underlying Carriers, AirVoice is able to provide all of the supported services

required by Section 54.101(a) of the FCC's Rules (47 C.F.R. § 54.101(a)) as follows:

## 1. Voice Telephony Service

As set forth in 47 C.F.R. § 54.101(a)(1), eligible Voice Telephony Services must provide

the following:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> See FCC Public Notice DA 12-2063, <u>https://www.fcc.gov/document/wcb-approves-nine-lifeline-compliance-plans.</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> See Public Notice DA 21-1641, <u>https://www.fcc.gov/document/wcb-approves-revised-compliance-plan-airvoice-wireless-llc.</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Implementation of Sections 3(n) and 332 of the Communications Act, Regulatory Treatment of Mobile Services, GN Docket No. 93-252, Second Report and Order, 9 FCC Rcd 1411, 1425 ¶ 37, 1454-55 ¶ 102 (1994) (wireless resellers are included in the statutory "mobile services" category, and providers of cellular service are common carriers and CMRS providers); 47 U.S.C. § 332(c)(1)(A) ("mobile services" providers are common carriers); see also PCIA Petition for Forbearance for Broadband PCS, WT Docket No. 98-100, (Memorandum Opinion and Order and Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, 13 FCC Rcd 16857, 16911 ¶ 111 (1998) ("We concluded [in the Second Report and Order] that CMRS also includes the following common carrier services: cellular service, … all mobile telephone services and resellers of such services.") (emphasis added).

<u>Voice Grade Access to the Public Switched Telephone Network.</u> AirVoice provides voice grade access to the public switched telephone network ("PSTN") through the purchase of wholesale CMRS services from its Underlying Carriers.

Local Usage At No Additional Charge. AirVoice offers rate plans that provide its customers with minutes of use for local service at no additional charge.

<u>Access to Emergency Services</u>. AirVoice provides 911 and E911 access for all of its customers to the extent the local government in its service area has implemented 911 or E911 systems. As noted, calls to 911 emergency services will always be free and will be available regardless of service activation status or availability of minutes. AirVoice also complies with the FCC's regulations governing the deployment and availability of E911 compatible handsets.

<u>Toll Limitation</u>. In its *Lifeline and Link Up Reform Order*, the FCC provided that toll limitation would no longer be deemed a supported service.<sup>20</sup> "ETCs are not required to offer toll limitation service to low-income consumers if the Lifeline offering provides a set amount of minutes that do not distinguish between toll and non-toll calls."<sup>21</sup> Nonetheless, AirVoice's offerings inherently allow Lifeline subscribers to control their usage, as its wireless service is offered on a prepaid, or pay-as-you-go, basis. AirVoice's service, moreover, is not offered on a distance-sensitive basis and local and domestic long-distance minutes are treated the same.

#### 2. Broadband Internet Access Services

While no longer a supported service under 47 C.F.R. § 54.101(a), AirVoice provides Broadband Internet access service ("BIAS") in accordance with the FCC's minimum service standards to ensure Lifeline customers receive full support. The FCC has stated that BIAS consists

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> See Lifeline and Link Up Reform Order at ¶ 367.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> See *id.* at ¶ 49.

of the ability for a user to receive "the capability to transmit data to and receive data from all or substantially all Internet endpoints, including any capabilities that are incidental to and enable the operation of the communications service, but excluding dial-up Internet access service."<sup>22</sup> AirVoice provides BIAS to low-income consumers via resale of AT&T and T-Mobile services.

#### D. AirVoice Requests Designation Throughout Its Service Area

AirVoice is not a rural telephone company as defined in Section 153(37) of the Act (47 U.S.C. § 153(37)). Accordingly, AirVoice is required to describe the geographic area(s) within which it requests designation as an ETC. AirVoice requests ETC designation that is statewide in scope to allow the Company to provide Lifeline service wherever its underlying, facilities-based providers have wireless coverage. The Company's coverage area, showing, including federally recognized tribal lands, is attached hereto as Exhibit 3. AirVoice understands that its service area overlaps with rural carriers in Utah but maintains that the public interest factors described below justify its designation in these carriers' service areas, especially because it seeks ETC designation solely to utilize USF funding to provide Lifeline service to qualified low-income consumers. AirVoice is not eligible for and does not seek Link-Up or high-cost support.

Therefore, designation of AirVoice as an ETC will cause no growth in the high-cost portions of the USF and will not erode high-cost support from any rural telephone company. In fact, the FCC has determined that "[d]esignation of competitive ETCs promotes competition and benefits consumers in rural and high-cost areas by increasing customer choice, innovative services, and new technologies."<sup>23</sup> While federal rules (47 U.S.C. §§ 160, 214(e)(5) and 47 C.F.R. § 54.207(b)) require that the service area of an ETC conform to the service area of any rural

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> See 47 C.F.R. § 8.2(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> See Western Wireless Corporation Petition for Designation as an Eligible Telecommunications Carrier in the State of Wyoming, Memorandum Opinion and Order, 16 FCC Rcd 48, 55 (2000).

telephone company serving the same area (the "service area conformance" requirement), the FCC's *Lifeline and Link Up Reform Memorandum Opinion and Order* (FCC 13-44 released April 15, 2013) authorized forbearance from the service area conformance requirements with respect to carriers seeking to provide Lifeline-only service.<sup>24</sup> In light of this forbearance, the Commission has the authority to designate ETCs such as AirVoice in rural areas without concern for the service area conformance requirement.<sup>25</sup>

## E. AirVoice Will Advertise the Availability of Supported Services

AirVoice will advertise the availability and rates for the services described above using media of general distribution as required by 47 C.F.R. § 54.201(d)(2). AirVoice will comply with the FCC's rules regarding information to be included in marketing materials, including FCC rule section 54.405(c). Specifically, AirVoice's marketing materials will state, in easily understood language, that: (i) the service is a Lifeline service; (ii) Lifeline is a government assistance program; (iii) the service may not be transferred to someone else; (iv) consumers must meet certain eligibility requirements before enrolling in the Lifeline program; (v) the Lifeline program permits only one Lifeline discount per household; (vi) documentation is necessary for enrollment; and (vii) AirVoice is the provider of the services. Moreover, the Lifeline application/certification form will state that Lifeline is a federal benefit and that consumers who willfully make a false statement in order to obtain the Lifeline benefit can be punished by fine or imprisonment or can be barred from the program. Additionally, AirVoice will disclose the company name under which it does business and the details of its Lifeline service offerings in any Lifeline-related marketing and advertising.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> See In the Matter of Telecommunications Carriers Eligible for Support, Lifeline and Link Up Reform, WC Docket No. 09-197, WC Docket No. 11-42, Memorandum Opinion and Order, FCC 13-44 (rel. April 15, 2013).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> See 47 C.F.R. § 54.207(c).

AirVoice will engage in advertising campaigns specifically targeted to reach those likely to qualify for Lifeline service, promoting the availability of cost-effective wireless services to this neglected consumer segment. AirVoice may also promote the availability of its Lifeline offering by distributing brochures at various state and local social service agencies and may partner with nonprofit assistance organizations in order to inform customers of the availability of its Lifeline service. In addition, AirVoice intends to utilize its network of retail partners (once established) to help promote the availability of its Lifeline plans, especially retail outlets that are frequented by low-income consumers. AirVoice will provide retail vendors with signage to be displayed where Company products are sold, and with printed materials describing the Company's Lifeline program. AirVoice will also do on-line marketing which may include social media and other online channels.

# V. AIRVOICE SATISFIES THE ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS FOR ETC DESIGNATION UNDER 47 C.F.R. § 54.202(a)

AirVoice hereby provides the additional information and certifications required for carriers seeking ETC designation as set forth in 47 C.F.R. § 54.202(a).

#### A. Service Commitment Throughout the Proposed Designated Service Area

AirVoice will provide service in Utah by reselling service which it obtains from its Underlying Carriers, whose networks are operational and largely built out. Thus, AirVoice will be able to commence offering its Lifeline service to all locations served by its Underlying Carriers very soon after receiving approval from the Commission.

In accordance with 47 C.F.R. § 54.202(a)(1)(i), and by the certification attached in Exhibit 1, AirVoice commits to comply with the service requirements applicable to the low-income support that it receives. Pursuant to 47 C.F.R. § 54.202(a)(1)(ii), a common carrier seeking designation as a Lifeline-only ETC is not required to submit a five-year network improvement plan as part of its application for designation as an ETC.

#### **B.** Ability to Remain Functional in Emergency Situations

In accordance with 47 C.F.R. § 54.202(a)(2), AirVoice has the ability to remain functional in emergency situations. As discussed, AirVoice will utilize the extensive and well-established network facilities of Tier 1 wireless carriers to provide its Lifeline services. The Company understands that its Underlying Carriers' networks have access to a reasonable amount of back-up power to ensure functionality without an external power source, are able to reroute traffic around damaged facilities, and are capable of managing traffic spikes resulting from emergency situations. Indeed, its Underlying Carriers have repeatedly certified to the FCC that its network functions in emergency situations.<sup>26</sup> The Underlying Carriers provide this functionality to AirVoice and its customers.

#### C. Commitment to Consumer Protection and Service Quality

In accordance with 47 C.F.R. § 54.202(a)(3), an ETC applicant must demonstrate that it will satisfy applicable consumer protection and service quality standards, and wireless applicants may satisfy this requirement with a commitment to comply with the Cellular Telecommunications and Internet Association's ("CTIA") Consumer Code for Wireless Service. AirVoice hereby commits to comply with the CTIA Consumer Code for Wireless Service.

#### **D.** AirVoice is Financially and Technically Capable

In accordance with 47 C.F.R. § 54.202(a)(4), AirVoice is financially and technically capable of providing Lifeline-supported services and is currently offering Lifeline service in ten (10) jurisdictions. In addition, AirVoice has been providing non-Lifeline wireless service throughout the United States since 1999. AirVoice receives revenue from a number of sources which are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> See, e.g., In the Matter of Telecommunications Carriers Eligible for Universal Service Support, Petition of AT&T USA, Inc. for Designation as a Low-Income Eligible Telecommunications Carrier, et al., WC Docket No. 09-197, at 20 (released Aug. 16, 2012).

completely independent from the revenue it will receive in the form of Lifeline support. AirVoice does not and will not rely exclusively on USF disbursements to operate. In addition, AirVoice's financial and technical capabilities to provide service are demonstrated by its performance over twenty-two (22) years in the wireless telephone industry, with consistently strong service, organic growth, and robust protections to ensure its Lifeline customers meet eligibility requirements. AirVoice's new ownership and affiliates will also provide additional financial, technical and managerial support as needed.

Furthermore, the senior management of AirVoice has great depth in the telecommunications industry and offers extensive telecommunications business technical and managerial expertise to AirVoice.<sup>27</sup> AirVoice will be providing resold wireless service, and therefore will also rely upon the managerial and technical expertise of its Underlying Carriers.

#### E. Terms and Conditions of Proposed Lifeline Offering

AirVoice has the ability to provide all services supported by the universal service program, as detailed in 47 C.F.R. § 54.101(a), throughout Utah. AirVoice intends to be a leader in the prepaid marketplace by offering consumers exceptional value and competitive amounts of voice and broadband usage. AirVoice commits that its Lifeline-supported voice services will meet or exceed the minimum service standards set forth in 47 C.F.R. § 54.408, including as such standards are updated going forward. AirVoice's Lifeline-supported broadband services will also meet the minimum service standards set forth in 47 C.F.R. § 54.408 for mobile broadband internet access services, including for service speed and data usage allowance, as such standards are updated going forward. To the extent AirVoice provides devices for use with Lifeline-supported broadband service broadband service, such devices will meet the equipment requirements set forth in 47 C.F.R. § 54.408(f), and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> See attached Exhibit 4 for key management bios.

AirVoice will not impose an additional or separate tethering charge for mobile data usage below the minimum standard.

Attached hereto as Exhibit 5 is a summary table of the Company's proposed Lifeline service offerings, showing that non-tribal Lifeline customers will receive 1000 voice minutes, unlimited text messages, and 4.5 gigabytes (GB) of data per month with full access to its Underlying Carriers' networks at a net cost of \$0.00 after application of Lifeline support.<sup>28</sup> Lifeline customers that also elect to receive ACP benefits from AirVoice will receive unlimited talk and text with 15 GB data (unlimited data for tribal customers) after application of Lifeline and ACP support. Customers will be able to purchase additional minutes or data as needed. All plans will include nationwide domestic long-distance at no extra per-minute charge, and AirVoice will not assess any usage for access to its free customer services (611). Emergency (911) calls will be free, regardless of service activation or availability of minutes, and will not count against the customer's airtime. The Company's Lifeline offering will provide feature-rich mobile connectivity for qualifying subscribers without the burden of credit checks or service contracts. AirVoice's prepaid offering will be an attractive alternative for consumers who need the mobility, security, and convenience of a wireless phone, but who are concerned about usage charges or long-term contracts.

## F. AirVoice Will Comply with the Lifeline Certification and Verification Requirements

Customers interested in obtaining information on the Lifeline program will be directed to a toll-free telephone number and to the Company's website, www.airtalkwireless.com, which will contain information regarding the Company's Lifeline service plans, including a description of the Lifeline program and eligibility criteria. Customers must then apply directly through the National

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> The current rate plan is based upon the December 2021 FCC minimum service standards ("MSS") and will change based on the future MSS.

Lifeline Eligibility Verifier ("National Verifier"), which they may do online or by submitting all required documentation to the National Verifier by mail. Customers may download a copy of the application form from the Internet (either from the National Verifier's or Company's website) or request that a copy be mailed to them. AirVoice utilizes the standard Lifeline application forms as required by FCC rules, and thus complies with the disclosure and information collection requirements in 47 C.F.R. § 54.410(d).<sup>29</sup> AirVoice will certify and verify initial and continued consumer eligibility in accordance with 47 C.F.R. § 54.410 and will notify the applicant that the prepaid service must be personally activated by the subscriber and the subscriber must use their service every thirty (30) days. AirVoice further confirms that it will not provide a consumer with an activated device and will not activate a Lifeline service unless or until it has confirmed that the consumer is a qualifying low-income household pursuant to 47 C.F.R. § 54.410, 54.404-54.405. Processing of consumers' applications and determination of eligibility will be performed by the National Verifier.

#### G. Prevention of Waste, Fraud and Abuse

AirVoice recognizes the importance of safeguarding the USF and has implemented measures and procedures to prevent duplicate Lifeline benefits being awarded to the same household. AirVoice complies with the requirements of the National Lifeline Accountability Database ("NLAD") and section 54.404 of the FCC's rules. In Utah, the National Verifier queries the NLAD for every enrollment to determine whether a prospective subscriber is currently

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> FCC Wireline Competition Bureau Provides Guidance on Universal Forms for the Lifeline Program, WC Docket No. 11-42, Public Notice, "Wireline Competition Bureau Provides Guidance on Universal Forms for the Lifeline Program," DA 18-161 (rel. Feb. 20, 2018). The standard application/certification forms are available on USAC's website (*See* USAC, Lifeline Forms, <u>http://www.usac.org/li/tools/forms/default.aspx</u>).

receiving a Lifeline service from AirVoice or any other ETC, and whether anyone else living at the prospective subscriber's residential address is currently receiving Lifeline service. In addition, Company personnel emphasize the "one Lifeline service per household" restriction in their direct sales contacts with potential customers. Furthermore, the FCC has taken steps to curb abuse in the Lifeline program by establishing the National Verifier, which transfers the responsibility of eligibility determination away from Lifeline providers. AirVoice will rely on the National Verifier to determine initial and ongoing eligibility of Utah Lifeline subscribers.

Consistent with federal regulations, the Company will not seek USF reimbursement for new subscribers until they have personally activated the service, either by initiation and/or actual use of the service and will de-enroll any subscriber that has not used the Company's Lifeline service as set forth in 47 C.F.R. § 54.407(c)(2). An account will be considered active if the authorized subscriber establishes usage, as "usage" is defined by 47 C.F.R. § 54.407(c)(2), during the specified timeframe, currently a period of thirty (30) days, or during the notice period set forth in 47 C.F.R. § 54.405(e)(3), currently a period of fifteen (15) days. In accordance with 47 C.F.R. § 54.405(e)(3), AirVoice will provide the subscriber advanced notice, using clear, easily understood language, that the subscriber's failure to use the Lifeline service within the notice period will result in service termination for non-usage. Customers that have been deactivated may participate in the Company's Lifeline service in the future by reapplying and re-establishing eligibility.

To further protect the integrity of the USF, AirVoice contracts with a third-party Lifeline service bureau, currently CGM, LLC, to edit all subsidy request data. CGM will process and validate the Company's subsidy data to prevent: (1) Duplicate Same-Month Lifeline Subsidies (Double Dip): any name/address that is already receiving a lifeline subsidy from the Company will

be automatically prevented from receiving a second lifeline subsidy in that same month; and (2) Inactive lines receiving subsidy: CGM's systems compare all subsidy requests to underlying network status to ensure that subsidies are requested only for active lines. Moreover, AirVoice has implemented an internal auditing process to review NLAD and CGM findings as a final layer of fraud prevention. Through the processes described above, AirVoice ensures that it does not over-request from support funds.

#### H. Commitment to Comply with Regulations Imposed By The Commission

By this Petition, AirVoice hereby asserts its willingness and ability to comply with all the rules and regulations that the Commission may lawfully impose upon the Company's provision of service contemplated by this Petition. AirVoice commits to pay all applicable state and local regulatory fees, including, but not limited to, universal service fees, emergency services, and relay services. Upon Commission request, the Company is prepared to answer questions or present additional testimony or other evidence about its services within the state.

#### I. Utah Universal Service Fund

By this Petition, AirVoice seeks the Commission's authorization to obtain Utah USF support so that it may provide highly competitive, feature-rich Lifeline service to qualifying low-income Utah households. As described below, AirVoice meets Utah's statutory and regulatory requirements for receipt of Utah USF support as outlined in Utah Code § 54-8b-15 and Utah Administrative Code R746-8-403. AirVoice further commits to comply with the requirements set forth in Utah Administrative Code R746-8-403 as well as any additional requirements the Commission may deem necessary for Utah USF support.

20

The Utah State Legislature enacted S.B. 130, which amends statutory provisions related to the Utah USF. The amended statute, codified as Utah Code § 54-8b-15, became effective as of July 1, 2017. The amendments to section 54-8b-15 relate to several aspects of the Utah USF, including funding, calculation of a contribution charge, and permitted uses of support. In addition, the amendments provide the following:

A facilities-based *or nonfacilities-based* wireless telecommunications provider is eligible for distribution from the Universal Telecommunications Service Support Fund under the [L]ifeline program described in Subsection 3(b) for providing [L]ifeline service that is consistent with the Federal Communications Commission's [L]ifeline program for low-income consumers.<sup>30</sup>

The amended statute further provides that the Commission "may impose reasonable conditions for providing a distribution to a wireless telecommunications provider under the [L]ifeline program."<sup>31</sup> However, the Commission "may not require a wireless telecommunications provider to offer unlimited local calling as a condition of receiving a distribution under the [L]ifeline program described in Subsection 3(b)."<sup>32</sup> Thus, the Commission has the right, but not the obligation, to impose conditions on wireless carriers' receipt of funds from the Utah USF. As a non-facilities-based wireless telecommunications provider, AirVoice meets the criteria as laid out in the amended Utah statute and is eligible for distributions from the Utah USF based on the requirements detailed in the Utah rules.

 $<sup>^{30}</sup>$  Utah Code § 54-8b-15(15)(a) (2017) (emphasis added). Subsection 3(b) provides that the Commission shall use funds in the Utah USF to "fund a [L]ifeline program that covers the reasonable cost to an eligible telecommunications carrier, as determined by the [C]omission, to offer [L]ifeline service consistent with the Federal Communications Commission's [L]ifeline program for low-income consumers." Utah Code § 54-8b-15(3)(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Utah Code § 54-8b-15(15)(b).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Utah Code § 54-8b-15(15)(c).

The Commission has also adopted requirements for Lifeline support, which are outlined in Utah Administrative Code R746-8-403. The Commission's rules stipulate that Lifeline support may not exceed \$3.50 per Lifeline subscriber per month of subscription to a service that, for wireless Lifeline, meets FCC broadband Lifeline requirements as set forth in 47 C.F.R. 54.408 and allows, at no charge beyond the basic monthly fee, unlimited texting and at least 750 voice minutes per month."<sup>33</sup> Furthermore, the rules provide that ETCs will be eligible for ongoing Lifeline distribution if the company is an ongoing participant in a Commission-approved Lifeline program if the Commission finds it is in the public interest.<sup>34</sup> Its offerings, as detailed herein, meet the requirements outlined by this Commission for eligibility to receive Utah USF support.

## VI. DESIGNATION OF AIRVOICE AS AN ETC AND TO PARTICIPATE IN UTAH USF WOULD PROMOTE THE PUBLIC INTEREST

One of the principal goals of the Act, as amended by the Telecommunications Act of 1996, is "to secure lower prices and higher quality services for American telecommunications consumers and encourage the rapid deployment of new telecommunications technologies" to all citizens, regardless of geographic location or income.<sup>35</sup> Designation of AirVoice as an ETC in Utah will further that public interest. Whether because of financial constraints, poor credit history, or intermittent employment, many low-income consumers often lack the countless choices available to most consumers and thus have yet to reap the full benefits of the intensely competitive wireless market.

The instant request for ETC designation must be examined in light of the Act's goal of providing low-income consumers with access to telecommunications services. The primary

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Utah Admin. Code R746-8-403(2)(a)(ii).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Utah Admin. Code R476-8-403(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Telecommunications Act of 1996, Pub. L. No. 104-104, 110 Stat. 56.

purpose of universal service is to ensure that consumers—particularly low-income consumers receive affordable and comparable telecommunications services. The FCC has in recent years expanded the Lifeline program to cover broadband services, noting that "Only half of all households in the lowest income tier subscribe to a broadband service and 43 percent say the biggest reason for not subscribing is the cost of the service," and "Of the low income consumers who have subscribed to mobile broadband, over 40 percent have to cancel or suspend their service due to financial constraints."<sup>36</sup> Given this context, designating AirVoice as an ETC would significantly benefit low-income consumers eligible for Lifeline services in Utah—the intended beneficiaries of universal service.

#### A. Advantages of AirVoice's Service Offering

AirVoice offers a unique, easy to use, competitive, and highly affordable wireless telecommunications service, which benefits qualified consumers who either have no other service alternatives or who choose a wireless prepaid solution in lieu of more traditional service. The public interest benefits of AirVoice's wireless service include larger calling areas (as compared to traditional wireline carriers), the convenience and security afforded by mobile service, and voice and broadband access included without cost (after application of the Lifeline support), as well as either a free SIM card or handset, and free access to caller ID, call waiting, and Voicemail features, and access to 911 services regardless of the number of voice minutes remaining on the Lifeline consumer's plan. These no cost to consumer services and low-cost minutes are an invaluable resource for cash-strapped consumers, and the prepaid nature of the service also provides an alternative for "unbanked" consumers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> See Lifeline Modernization Order ¶ 2.

AirVoice's Lifeline offerings compare favorably with those of other competitive ETCs, and provide Lifeline customers with voice minutes, text messages, and a data allotment (meeting the voice and broadband minimum service standards), at no net cost to the customer after application of Lifeline support. AirVoice's Lifeline offering will be provided over its Underlying Carriers' networks. AirVoice's prepaid wireless service is likely to be an especially attractive option for low-income consumers because it alleviates customer concerns regarding hidden costs, varying monthly charges and long-term contract issues.

In today's market, consumers, including qualified Lifeline customers, view the portability and convenience of wireless service not as a luxury, but as a necessity. Mobile service allows children to reach their parents wherever they may be, allows a person seeking employment greater ability to be contacted by potential employers, and provides end users with the ability to contact emergency service providers regardless of location. Mobile service often also serves as a key bridge in closing the homework gap for students who live in rural areas with limited access to broadband.

With the comprehensive strength and experience of AirVoice's management team, the Company's technology-based business model, and AirVoice's solid history as a Lifeline provider, AirVoice is uniquely positioned to meet the needs of Lifeline customers, utilizing the Company's innovative outreach and high integrity enrollment process, and AirVoice remains committed to careful stewardship of the Lifeline program. Without question, prepaid wireless services have become essential for low-income customers, providing them with value for their money, access to emergency services on wireless devices, and a reliable means of contact for prospective employers, social service agencies or dependents. Providing AirVoice with the authority necessary to offer discounted Lifeline service to those without wireless service—or most in danger of losing service altogether—undoubtedly promotes the public interest.

#### **B.** The Benefits of Competitive Choice

The FCC has acknowledged the benefits to consumers of being able to choose from among a variety of telecommunications service providers for more than three decades.<sup>37</sup> Increasing customer choice promotes competition and innovation, thus spurring other carriers to target lowincome consumers with service offerings tailored to their needs, ultimately resulting in improved services to consumers. Designation of AirVoice as an ETC will help ensure that quality services are available at "just, reasonable, and affordable rates" as envisioned in the Act.<sup>38</sup> Introducing AirVoice into the market as an additional wireless ETC provider will afford low-income Utah residents a wider choice of providers and available services while creating a competitive marketplace as ETCs compete for a finite number of Lifeline-eligible customers. Increasing the competitive marketplace of providers has the potential to effectively increase the penetration rate and reduce the number of individuals not connected to the PSTN.

#### C. Impact on the Universal Service Fund

With Lifeline, ETCs only receive support for customers they obtain. The amount of support available to an eligible subscriber is exactly the same whether the support is given through a company such as AirVoice or the Incumbent LEC operating in the same service area. The number of persons eligible for Lifeline support is the same regardless of the number of ETCs; thus, AirVoice will only increase the amount of USF Lifeline funding in situations where it obtains Lifeline customers not already enrolled in another ETC's Lifeline program. By implementing the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> See, e.g., Specialized Common Carrier Services, 29 FCC Rcd 870 (1971).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> See 47 U.S.C. § 254(b)(1).

safeguards set forth in the *Lifeline and Link Up Reform Order* and utilizing the NLAD and National Verifier, the likelihood that AirVoice's customers are not eligible or are receiving duplicative support either individually or within their household is greatly minimized. AirVoice's ability to increase the Lifeline participation rate of qualified low-income individuals will further the goal of Congress to provide all individuals with affordable access to telecommunications service, and thus any incremental increases in Lifeline expenditures are far outweighed by the significant public interest benefits of expanding the availability of affordable wireless services to low-income consumers.

## VII. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, designation of AirVoice as an ETC in the State of Utah complies with the requirements of Section 214(e)(2) of the Act and is clearly in the public interest.

WHEREFORE, AirVoice hereby respectfully requests that the Commission promptly designate AirVoice as an ETC in the State of Utah for the purpose of participating in the Lifeline program and the Utah USF program.

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Lance J.M. Steinhart

Lance J.M. Steinhart Managing Attorney Lance J.M. Steinhart, P.C. 1725 Windward Concourse, Suite 150 Alpharetta, Georgia 30005 (770) 232-9200 (Phone) (770) 232-9208 (Fax) E-Mail: <u>lsteinhart@telecomcounsel.com</u>

Attorneys for AirVoice Wireless, LLC d/b/a AirTalk Wireless

March 22, 2022

## **VERIFICATION**

The undersigned certifies that he is the President of AirVoice Wireless, LLC d/b/a AirTalk Wireless ("AirVoice") and as CEO of AirVoice has the authority to execute this Petition for Designation as an Eligible Telecommunications Carrier in the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico for the Limited Purpose of Offering Lifeline Services to Qualified Households (the "Petition") on behalf of AirVoice, and further certifies that he has read the foregoing Petition in its entirety and that, based on personal knowledge and/or following diligent inquiry, the statements contained in this Petition are true to the best of the undersigned's knowledge and belief.

Applicant	: <u>AIRVOICE WIRELESS, LLC D/BA/AIRTAK WIRELESS</u>
By:	
Printed:	Henry Do
Its:	CEO
Dated:	3/18/2022

#### **EXHIBIT 1**

#### Certification

)

)

#### STATE OF TEXAS

### **COUNTY OF HARRIS**

I, Henry Do, Chief Executive Officer of AirVoice Wireless, LLC d/b/a AirTalk Wireless (the "Company"), hereby state upon oath and affirmation of belief and personal knowledge that the matters, facts and statements set forth in the foregoing Petition are true to the best of my knowledge and belief.

I certify that the Company will comply with the service requirements applicable to the low-income support it receives.

Henry Do, Chief Executive Officer AirVoice Wireless, LLC d/b/a AirTalk Wireless

## EXHIBIT 2

FCC-Approved Compliance Plan

## Lance J.M. Steinhart, P.C.

Attorneys At Law 1725 Windward Concourse Suite 150 Alpharetta, Georgia 30005

Also Admitted in New York Email: info@telecomcounsel.com Telephone: (770) 232-9200 Facsimile: (770) 232-9208

May 17, 2021

## VIA ECFS

Marlene H. Dortch, Secretary Federal Communications Commission 45 L Street NE Washington, DC 20554

> Re: AirVoice Wireless, LLC Revised Compliance Plan, WC Docket Nos. 09-197 and 11-42

Dear Ms. Dortch:

On December 7, 2012, AirVoice Wireless, LLC ("AirVoice" or the "Company") submitted its Compliance Plan for wireless Lifeline services, outlining the measures it would take to implement the conditions imposed by the Federal Communications Commission ("FCC" or the "Commission") in its 2012 Lifeline Reform Order.<sup>1</sup> The Wireline Competition Bureau (Bureau) approved AirVoice's Compliance Plan on December 26, 2012.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See Lifeline and Link Up Reform and Modernization, Lifeline and Link Up, Federal-State Joint Board on Universal Service, Advancing Broadband Availability Through Digital Literacy Training, WC Docket Nos. 11-42 and 03-109, CC Docket No. 96-45, and WC Docket No. 12-23, Report and Order and Further Notice Of Proposed Rulemaking, FCC 12-11 (rel. Feb. 6, 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Wireline Competition Bureau Approves the Compliance Plans of AirVoice Wireless, LLC (AirVoice); AmeriMex Communications Corp. (AmeriMex); Blue Jay Wireless, LLC (Blue Jay); Millennium 2000, Inc. (Millennium 2000); Nexus Communications, Inc. (Nexus); PlatinumTel Communications, LLC (PlatinumTel); Sage Telecom, Inc. (Sage); Telrite Corporation (Telrite); and Telscape Communications, Inc. d/b/a Telscape Wireless (Telscape), WC Dckt. Nos. 09-197 and 11-42, Public Notice, DA 12-2063 (rel. December 26, 2012).

Marlene H. Dortch May 17, 2021 Page 2

AirVoice now seeks expedited approval of the enclosed Revised Compliance Plan, which has been revised to: (1) reflect a proposed change in ownership of the Company; and (2) update the information provided in the Company's approved Compliance Plan due to Commission rule changes and the passage of time.

#### **Change in Ownership**

Pursuant to the terms of the Membership Interest Purchase Agreement dated May 17, 2021, by and among AirVoice Wireless, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company; Jim Bahri, Falah Bahri, Wail Dickow, Kenny Hannawa, Nick Hannawa, and Kyle Hannawa, all individual residents of the State of Michigan (collectively the "Seller"); and VTel Holdings, LLC, a Texas Limited liability company (hereinafter "VTel"), VTel will purchase one hundred percent (100%) of the membership interests of AirVoice (the "Transaction"). The consummation of the Transaction is contingent upon any required regulatory approvals including this Revised Compliance Plan. Following the proposed change in AirVoice's ownership, the Company's corporate and trade names and identifiers will remain unchanged. The transaction will not result in any loss or impairment of service for any customer, and customers will continue to receive their existing services at the same or better rates, terms, and conditions currently in effect.

#### Updates Due to Rule Changes and Passage of Time

AirVoice also files this Revised Compliance Plan to update its policies and practices to account for changes in the Commission's Lifeline rules, orders, and guidance and due to the passage of time. This includes, without limitation, full implementation of the Lifeline National Verifier, use of standardized application and recertification forms, and new requirements for Lifeline enrollment representatives.

Respectfully submitted,

s/Lance Steinhart

Lance J.M. Steinhart, Esq. Managing Attorney Lance J.M. Steinhart, P.C. *Attorneys for AirVoice Wireless, LLC*
### BEFORE THE FEDERAL COMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20554

In the Matter of	
Telecommunications Carriers Eligible to Receive Universal Service Support	WC Docket No. 09-197
Lifeline and Link Up Reform and Modernization	WC Docket No. 11-42
AIRVOICE WIRELESS, LLC	

### AIRVOICE WIRELESS, LLC REVISED COMPLIANCE PLAN

AirVoice Wireless, LLC ("AIRVOICE" or the "Company"),<sup>1</sup> through its undersigned counsel, hereby respectfully submits and requests expeditious approval of these revisions to its approved Compliance Plan (this "Revised Compliance Plan") outlining the measures it will take to comply with the Federal Communications Commission's ("Commission" or "FCC") 2012 Lifeline Reform Order, 2015 Lifeline Second Report and Order,<sup>2</sup> and Third Report and Order.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Changes in the Company's affiliates following a proposed change in ownership are discussed in Section III herein; upon consummation, the Company's names and identifiers will remain the same.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See Lifeline and Link Up Reform and Modernization, Lifeline and Link Up, Federal-State Joint Board on Universal Service, Advancing Broadband Availability Through Digital Literacy Training, WC Docket No. 11-42, WC Docket No. 03-109, CC Docket No. 96-45, WC Docket No. 12-23, Report and Order and Further Notice Of Proposed Rulemaking, FCC 12-11 (Feb. 6, 2012) ("2012 Lifeline Reform Order"). See Lifeline and Link Up Reform and Modernization, Telecommunications Carriers Eligible for Universal Service Support, Connect America Fund, WC Docket Nos. 11-42, 09-197, 10-90, Second Further Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, Order on Reconsideration, Second Report and Order, and Memorandum Opinion and Order, FCC 15-71, ¶ 249 (rel. June 22, 2015) (Order on Reconsideration). The Company herein submits the information required by the Compliance Plan Public Notice. See Wireline Competition Bureau Provides Guidance for the Submission of Compliance Plans Pursuant to the Lifeline Reform Order, WC Docket Nos. 09-197, 11-42, Public Notice, DA 12-314 (rel. Feb. 29, 2012) (Compliance Plan Public Notice).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See In the Matter of Lifeline and Link Up Reform and Modernization, Telecommunications Carriers Eligible for Universal Service Support, Connect America Fund, WC Docket No. 11-42,

AIRVOICE's Compliance Plan was originally approved by the Wireline Competition Bureau ("Bureau") on December 26, 2012.<sup>4</sup> AIRVOICE is designated as an eligible telecommunications carrier ("ETC") to provide Lifeline services to low-income consumers on a wireless basis in California, Kentucky, Michigan, Mississippi, New York, Ohio, Oklahoma, Pennsylvania, South Carolina, and Wisconsin. AIRVOICE files this Revised Compliance Plan to update the information provided due to the passage of time and to reflect a proposed change in ownership described in Section III below.

AIRVOICE commends the Commission's commitment to a nationwide communications system that promotes the safety and welfare of all Americans, including Lifeline customers. AIRVOICE complies with 911 requirements as described below and qualifies for blanket forbearance from the facilities requirement of section 214(e)(1)(A) of the Communications Act to participate as an ETC in the Lifeline program.<sup>5</sup>

AIRVOICE complies fully with all conditions set forth in the 2012 Lifeline Reform Order and Third Report and Order, as well as with the Commission's Lifeline rules and policies more

WC Docket No. 00-197, WC Docket No. 10-90, Third Report and Order, Further Report and Order, and Order on Reconsideration, FCC 16-38 (rel. Apr. 27, 2016) ("*Third Report and Order*").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Wireline Competition Bureau Approves the Compliance Plans of AirVoice Wireless, LLC (AirVoice); AmeriMex Communications Corp. (AmeriMex); Blue Jay Wireless, LLC (Blue Jay); Millennium 2000, Inc. (Millennium 2000); Nexus Communications, Inc. (Nexus); PlatinumTel Communications, LLC (PlatinumTel); Sage Telecom, Inc. (Sage); Telrite Corporation (Telrite); and Telscape Communications, Inc. d/b/a Telscape Wireless (Telscape), WC Dckt. Nos. 09-197 and 11-42, Public Notice, DA 12-2063 (rel. December 26, 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> See 2012 Lifeline Reform Order ¶ 368. Although AIRVOICE qualifies for and seeks to avail itself of the Commission's grant of forbearance from the facilities requirement of section 214(e)(1)(A) for purposes of the federal Lifeline program, the Company reserves the right to demonstrate to a state public utilities commission that it provides service using its own facilities in a state for purposes of state universal service funding under state program rules and requirements. AIRVOICE will follow the requirements of the Commission's Lifeline rules and this Compliance Plan in all states in which it provides Lifeline service and receives reimbursements from the federal Low-Income fund, including in any state where the public utilities commission determines that AIRVOICE provides service using its own facilities for purposes of a state universal service program.

generally.<sup>6</sup> This Revised Compliance Plan describes the specific measures that the Company has implemented to achieve these objectives. Specifically, this Revised Compliance Plan: (1) describes in detail the measures that AIRVOICE takes to implement the obligations contained in the 2012 Lifeline Reform Order and Third Report and Order, including (a) the procedures the Company follows in enrolling a subscriber in Lifeline and submitting for reimbursement for that subscriber from the Low Income Fund and (b) materials related to initial and ongoing certifications and sample marketing materials; and (2) provides a detailed description of how AIRVOICE offers Lifeline services, the geographic areas in which it offers services, and a detailed description of the Company's Lifeline service plan offerings.

### ACCESS TO 911 AND E911 SERVICES<sup>7</sup>

Pursuant to the 2012 Lifeline Reform Order, forbearance is conditioned upon the Company: (1) providing its Lifeline subscribers with 911 and E911 access, regardless of activation status and availability of minutes; and (2) providing its wireless Lifeline subscribers with E911-compliant handsets and replacing, at no additional charge to the subscriber, noncompliant handsets of wireless Lifeline-eligible subscribers who obtain Lifeline-supported services.<sup>8</sup> The Company will provide its wireless Lifeline customers with access to 911 and E911 services immediately upon activation of service. The Commission and consumers are hereby assured that all AIRVOICE customers will have available access to emergency calling services at the time that Lifeline voice telephony service is initiated, and that such 911 and E911 access will be available from Company handsets, even if the account associated with the handset has no minutes remaining.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> AIRVOICE will update its associated Lifeline program forms and advertising, whenever necessary, to reflect Commission changes to the applicable Lifeline program rules.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See Compliance Plan Public Notice at 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See 2012 Lifeline Reform Order ¶ 373.

AIRVOICE's existing practices currently provide access to 911 and E911 services for all customers. AIRVOICE currently uses AT&T, and intends to use T-Mobile, as its underlying wireless network providers/carriers ("Underlying Carriers"). These Underlying Carriers route 911 calls from the Company's customers in the same manner as 911 calls from their own retail customers. To the extent that AIRVOICE's Underlying Carriers are certified in a given PSAP territory, this 911 capability will function the same for the Company. AIRVOICE also currently enables 911 emergency calling services for all properly activated handsets regardless of whether the account associated with the handset is active or suspended or has any remaining minutes.

**E911-Compliant Handsets.** AIRVOICE's handsets used in connection with the wireless Lifeline service offering have always been and will continue to be 911 and E911-compliant. The Company's phones have passed a stringent certification process, which ensures that the handset models used meet all 911 and E911 requirements. As a result, any existing wireless customer that qualifies for and elects Lifeline service will already have a 911/E911-compliant handset, which will be confirmed at the time of enrollment in the Lifeline program. To the extent AIRVOICE offers handsets for use with its Lifeline service, any new customer that qualifies for and enrolls in AIRVOICE's Lifeline voice telephony service is assured of receiving a 911/E911-compliant handset.

To further obtain the benefits of a modernized Lifeline program, the Commission's Third Report and Order also set forth the requirement that Lifeline providers providing both mobile broadband services and devices to their consumers provide handset devices that are Wi-Fi enabled.<sup>9</sup> The Commission further requires such providers to offer the choice to Lifeline customers of devices

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See Third Report and Order at ¶ 366.

that are equipped with hotspot functionality.<sup>10</sup> To the extent AIRVOICE offers devices for use with its Lifeline-supported broadband service, it commits to provide devices that meet the equipment requirements set forth in 47 C.F.R. § 54.408(f).

#### **COMPLIANCE PLAN**

### I. PROCEDURES TO ENROLL A SUBSCRIBER IN LIFELINE<sup>11</sup>

### A. Policy

AIRVOICE will comply with the uniform eligibility criteria established in section 54.409 of the Commission's rules, as amended by and through the Third Report and Order. Therefore, all subscribers will be required to demonstrate eligibility, as determined by the National Lifeline Eligibility Verifier ("National Verifier"),<sup>12</sup> based on: (1) household income at or below one hundred-thirty five percent (135%) of the Federal Poverty Guidelines for a household of that size; or (2) the household's participation in one of the federal assistance programs listed in sections 54.409 of the Commission's rules. In addition, through the certification requirements described below and the use of the National Lifeline Accountability Database ("NLAD"), the Company confirms that the subscriber is not already receiving a Lifeline service and no one else in the subscriber's household is subscribed to a Lifeline service.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> See id. The Third Report and Order clarifies that the requirement to provide Wi-Fi-enabled handsets does not apply to devices provided prior to the effective date of the rule (December 2, 2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> See Compliance Plan Public Notice at 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The National Verifier is fully operational, except in NLAD Opt-out states where it is undergoing a modified launch (*see Wireline Competition Bureau Announces the Next National Lifeline Eligibility Verifier Launch in Three States*, WC Docket No. 11-42, Public Notice, DA 19-1290 (Released Dec. 18, 2019). In these states, AIRVOICE will rely upon the National Verifier in conjunction with the state administrator (together, the "National Verifier") for eligibility determination.

### **B.** Eligibility Determination

AIRVOICE relies on the National Verifier and NLAD (except in California where the Company follows state requirements) to determine an applicant's eligibility for Lifeline service. Eligible customers can enroll in AIRVOICE's Lifeline service in-person with field representatives, AIRVOICE retail locations, apply electronically on the Company's website, or through live agents at the company's call center. Customers may also apply directly with the National Verifier online or by mail. Regardless of enrollment method, AIRVOICE relies upon the National Verifier for determination of consumer eligibility for Lifeline.

AIRVOICE uses a web-based electronic Lifeline enrollment application ("ECP") for all Lifeline customer enrollments. Applications are processed using CGM, LLC's ECP—used by more than a dozen other ETCs—which works in conjunction with the National Verifier and NLAD. The ECP works on a tablet or computer in tandem with the National Verifier Service Provider portal to provide the required disclosures and collect applicant information, identity documentation, and proof of eligibility, all of which is uploaded to the National Verifier for eligibility determination and NLAD duplicate check. Each prospective customer is checked against the NLAD to ensure that the applicant does not already receive Lifeline service before the customer is enrolled.<sup>13</sup> Upon approval in a state, AIRVOICE provides an approved Zip Code list to CGM. This list is loaded into the ECP to ensure all prospective subscribers reside within AIRVOICE's approved service area as designated by the state commission or the FCC.

When in person, AIRVOICE requires all prospective customers to provide a copy of their valid government-issued identification.<sup>14</sup> Customers that enroll electronically will use the National

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> See infra Section I.F. regarding use of the NLAD.

 $<sup>^{14}</sup>$  Any identification documentation collected, including documentation used in NLAD processes to verify identity are now retained pursuant to the Order on Reconsideration. *See* Order on Reconsideration ¶ 224.

Verifier consumer portal to submit their Lifeline application, eligibility proof and copy of government-issued identification directly to the National Verifier, or customers may submit such documentation directly to the National Verifier by mail.

AIRVOICE does not collect, review, or maintain eligibility documentation, other than in NLAD-opt out states (such as California). Additionally, the CGM application currently performs additional checks, such as a check of AIRVOICE's subscriber database to identify and prevent intra-company duplicate enrollments.

As discussed in further detail in Section I.F. below, all employees or representatives ("Representatives") who interact with current or prospective customers are trained regarding all applicable eligibility and certification requirements, including the one-per-household requirement, and told to inform potential customers of those requirements.

Further, AIRVOICE will not enroll customers at retail locations where AIRVOICE does not have an agency agreement with the retailer. AIRVOICE will require a retailer to have any employees involved in the enrollment process go through the standard AIRVOICE training process, just as it would for any other Company Representative. By establishing contractual relationships with all of its Representatives, including future retail outlets, AIRVOICE meets the "deal directly" requirement adopted in the TracFone Forbearance Order.<sup>15</sup>

The Commission determined in the 2012 Lifeline Reform Order that ETCs may permit representatives to assist with the Lifeline application process because "the Commission has consistently found that '[1]icensees and other Commission regulatees are responsible for the acts and omissions of their employees and independent contractors."<sup>16</sup> AIRVOICE further commits to comply with the Commission's *Fifth Report and Order* which set forth reforms to strengthen the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> See Petition of TracFone Wireless, Inc. for Forbearance from 47 U.S.C. § 214(e)(1)(A) and 47 C.F.R. § 54.201(i), CC Docket No. 96-45, Order, FCC 05-165, ¶ 19 (2005).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> 2012 Lifeline Reform Order ¶ 110.

Lifeline program's enrollment, recertification, and reimbursement processes including involvement of representatives.<sup>17</sup>

AIRVOICE is responsible for the actions of all of its Representatives, and a noncommissioned AIRVOICE employee will be responsible for overseeing and finalizing every Lifeline enrollment and request for reimbursement. The Company will therefore always "deal directly" with its customers to certify and verify the customer's Lifeline eligibility.

All Representatives are instructed that the company has zero tolerance for waste, fraud or abuse, and that they should notify the compliance team if they suspect that anyone might be providing false information or attempting to obtain a duplicate Lifeline benefit. In addition, if personnel have any questions or concerns regarding eligibility and enrollment, the Company strongly encourages them to bring such questions and concerns to the AIRVOICE compliance team so that they can be researched and resolved in accordance with the Commission's Lifeline rules and regulations. AIRVOICE provides personnel with refresher training, including to inform them of changes to Lifeline program rules and regulations, including eligibility requirements. Personnel will be disciplined, up to and including termination, for failing to comply with Lifeline rules and regulations. AIRVOICE also provides comprehensive training to its internal compliance personnel.

<u>De-Enrollment for Ineligibility</u>. If AIRVOICE has a reasonable basis to believe that one of its Lifeline subscribers no longer meets the eligibility criteria, the Company will notify the subscriber of impending termination in writing, will comply with any state dispute resolution

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> In the Matter of Bridging the Digital Divide for Low-Income Consumers, Lifeline and Link Up Reform and Modernization, Telecommunications Carriers Eligible for Universal Service Support, WC Docket No. 17-287, WC Docket No. 11-42, WC Docket No. 09-197, Fifth Report and Order, Memorandum Opinion and Order and Order on Reconsideration, and Further Notice of Proposed Rulemaking, FCC 19-111 (rel. Nov. 14, 2019) ("Fifth Report and Order").

procedures applicable to Lifeline termination, and will give the subscriber thirty (30) days to demonstrate continued eligibility.<sup>18</sup> A demonstration of eligibility must comply with the annual verification procedures below and found in rule section 54.410(f), including the submission of a certification form.

As required by the Commission's rules, if a customer contacts the Company and states that he or she is not eligible for Lifeline or wishes to de-enroll for any reason, the Company will deenroll the customer within two (2) business days.<sup>19</sup> Live customer service and bilingual operators can currently be reached for Lifeline service support from 10 AM to 10 PM Eastern, Monday through Saturday, with 24/7 access to assistance via IVR and online web portal.

### C. Subscriber Certifications for Enrollment

AIRVOICE has implemented certification policies and procedures that enable consumers to demonstrate their eligibility for Lifeline assistance in compliance with 47 C.F.R. § 54.410(a). The Company shares the Commission's concern about abuse of the Lifeline program and is thus committed to the safeguards stated herein, with the belief that these procedures will prevent the Company's customers from engaging in such abuse of the program, inadvertently or intentionally. Every applicant will be required to complete the universal or National Verifier Lifeline application forms required by FCC rules ("Universal Forms"), and thus AIRVOICE complies with the disclosure and information collection requirements in 47 C.F.R. § 54.410(d).<sup>20</sup> The Universal Forms, whether online or paper format, indicate qualifying programs as well as a breakdown of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> See 2012 Lifeline Reform Order ¶ 143; 47 C.F.R. § 54.405(e)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> See 47 C.F.R. § 54.405(e)(5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> See FCC Wireline Competition Bureau Provides Guidance on Universal Forms for the Lifeline Program, WC Docket No. 11-42, Public Notice, DA 18-161 (rel. Feb. 20, 2018). The standard application/certification forms are available on USAC's website (*See* USAC, Lifeline Forms, <u>https://www.usac.org/lifeline/additional-requirements/forms/</u>). See Compliance Plan Public Notice at 3.

income eligibility based upon the Federal Poverty Guidelines by household size. When enrolling with AIRVOICE's assistance via the service provider portal, Company personnel will orally explain the certifications to consumers.<sup>21</sup>

Disclosures. The Universal Forms include the following disclosures, which the Company also includes on its website or electronic application platform: (1) Lifeline is a federal benefit and willfully making false statements to obtain the benefit can result in fines, imprisonment, deenrollment or being barred from the program; (2) only one Lifeline service is available per household; (3) a household is defined, for purposes of the Lifeline program, as any individual or group of individuals who live together at the same address and share income and expenses; (4) a household is not permitted to receive Lifeline benefits from multiple providers; (5) violation of the one-per-household limitation constitutes a violation of the Commission's rules and will result in the applicant's de-enrollment from the program; and (6) Lifeline is a non-transferable benefit and the applicant may not transfer his or her benefit to any other person.<sup>22</sup> The Universal Forms further collect the information and certifications required by 47 C.F.R. §§ 54.410(d)(2)-(3), and require the applicant to consent to transmission of the subscriber's information to the Administrator to ensure the proper administration of the Lifeline program.<sup>23</sup>

### **D.** Annual Verification Procedures

AIRVOICE relies upon the National Verifier to annually re-certify all subscribers in compliance with section 54.410(f)(3) of the Commission's rules (the Company follows prescribed modified processes in NLAD opt-out states such as California). The National Verifier is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> See 2012 Lifeline Reform Order ¶ 123.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> See id. ¶ 121; 47 C.F.R. § 54.410(d)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> See 47 C.F.R. § 54.404(b)(9). The application/certification form will also describe the information that will be transmitted, that the information is being transmitted to USAC to ensure the proper administration of the Lifeline program and that failure to provide consent will result in the applicant being denied the Lifeline service. See 47 C.F.R. § 54.404(b)(9).

responsible to annually confirm a subscriber's current eligibility to receive Lifeline by querying the appropriate income or eligibility databases, or contacting subscribers as needed to obtain a signed certification from the subscriber on a form that meets the certification requirements in section 54.410(d). The National Verifier is responsible for sending notice to the subscriber explaining that failure to respond to the re-certification request within sixty (60) days will result in the subscriber's de-enrollment from the Lifeline program. If AIRVOICE is notified by the National Verifier that it is unable to re-certify a subscriber, AIRVOICE will comply with the de-enrollment requirements provided for in §54.405(e)(4).<sup>24</sup>

### E. Activation and Non-Usage

To the extent AIRVOICE offers Lifeline service that does not require the Company to assess and collect a monthly fee from its subscribers, AIRVOICE will not consider a subscriber activated, and will not seek Lifeline reimbursement for that subscriber, until the subscriber activates the Company's service either by initiation and/or actual qualified use of the service by the subscriber.<sup>25</sup>

After service activation, AIRVOICE will not seek reimbursement from the USF for and will de-enroll any subscriber that has not used AIRVOICE's Lifeline service as set forth in 47 C.F.R. § 54.407(c)(2). An account will be considered active if the authorized subscriber establishes usage, as "usage" is defined by 47 C.F.R. § 54.407(c)(2), during the specified timeframe, currently

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> AIRVOICE may send messages to its customers, as permitted by National Verifier recertification processes, to educate them regarding the annual recertification process and requirement, as contemplated by the 2012 Lifeline Reform Order. This type of educational recertification message is consistent with the 2012 Lifeline Reform Order, which states that "ETCs and states may also choose to notify subscribers about the re-certification requirements in their Lifeline outreach materials. By taking these actions, ETCs and states will ensure that consumers are aware of the importance of responding to re-certification efforts, and that they are not inadvertently disconnected due to a lack of understanding of program rules." 2012 Lifeline Reform Order ¶ 145.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> See 2012 Lifeline Reform Order ¶ 257; 47 C.F.R. § 54.407(c)(1).

a period of thirty (30) days, or during the notice period set forth in 47 C.F.R. § 54.405(e)(3), currently a period of fifteen (15) days. In accordance with 47 C.F.R. § 54.405(e)(3), AIRVOICE will provide the subscriber advanced notice, using clear, easily understood language, that the subscriber's failure to use the Lifeline service within the notice period will result in service termination for non-usage. AIRVOICE will update the NLAD within one (1) business day of deenrolling a subscriber for non-use and will submit a non-usage de-enrollment report annually to USAC.<sup>26</sup>

### F. Additional Measures to Prevent Waste, Fraud and Abuse

To supplement its verification and certification procedures, and to better ensure that customers understand the Lifeline service restrictions with respect to duplicates, AIRVOICE has implemented measures and procedures to prevent duplicate Lifeline benefits being awarded to the same household. These measures entail additional emphasis in written disclosures as well as live due diligence.

<u>Database.</u> The Company complies with the requirements of the NLAD and section 54.404 of the Commission's rules. Through use of the National Verifier, the Company queries the NLAD for every enrollment<sup>27</sup> to determine whether a prospective subscriber is currently receiving a Lifeline service from another ETC and whether anyone else living at the prospective subscriber's residential address is currently receiving Lifeline service.<sup>28</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> See 2012 Lifeline Reform Order at ¶ 257; see also 47 C.F.R. §§ 54.404(b)(10) and 54.405(e)(3), respectively.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> With the limited exception of states that have opted out of the NLAD. In those states, AIRVOICE will follow the duplicates detection process required by the state.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> See 2012 Lifeline Reform Order ¶ 203. The Company transmits to the NLAD the information required for each new Lifeline subscriber. See id., ¶¶ 189-195; 47 C.F.R. § 54.404(b)(6). Further, the Company updates each subscriber's information in the NLAD within ten (10) business days of any change, except for de-enrollment, which will be transmitted within one business day. See 47 C.F.R. § 54.404(b)(8),(10). These statements may not be applicable in states that have opted out of the NLAD.

In addition to checking the NLAD, Company personnel emphasize the "one Lifeline phone per household" restriction in their direct sales contacts with potential customers. Training materials include a discussion of the limitation to one Lifeline phone per household, and the need to ensure that the customer is informed of this restriction. All Company personnel interacting with existing and potential Lifeline customers undergo training regarding eligibility and certification requirements. Representatives must acknowledge completion of the training and agree to follow the procedures outlined therein. Further, Representatives assisting with National Verifier or NLAD transactions will be required to participate in the Representative Accountability Database (RAD) in accordance with FCC rules. All Representatives are given a toll-free hotline and an email address that can be used for any issues or questions regarding Lifeline services.

<u>One-Per-Household Certification</u>. AIRVOICE has implemented the requirements of the 2012 Lifeline Reform Order to ensure that it provides only one Lifeline benefit per household<sup>29</sup> through the use of Universal Forms discussed above, National Verifier and NLAD database checks, and its marketing materials discussed below. Upon receiving an application for the Company's Lifeline service, AIRVOICE will search its own internal records to ensure that it does not already provide Lifeline-supported service to someone at the same residential address.<sup>30</sup> If an applicant shares an address with one or more existing Lifeline subscribers according to the NLAD or National Verifier, the prospective subscriber may complete a form certifying compliance with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> A "household" is any individual or group of individuals who are living together at the same address as one economic unit. A household may include related and unrelated persons. An "economic unit" consists of all adult individuals contributing to and sharing in the income and expenses of a household. An adult is any person eighteen years or older. If an adult has no or minimal income, and lives with someone who provides financial support to him/her, both people shall be considered part of the same household. Children under the age of eighteen living with their parents or guardians are considered to be part of the same household as their parents or guardians. *See* 2012 Lifeline Reform Order ¶ 74; section 54.400(h).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> See 2012 Lifeline Reform Order ¶ 78.

the one-per-household rule in accordance with 47 C.F.R. § 54.410(g).<sup>31</sup>

If an applicant is determined to have an existing Lifeline service, AIRVOICE will explain that a subscriber cannot have multiple Lifeline Program benefits with the same or different service providers, and will obtain consent from the subscriber that the subscriber wishes to transfer their existing Lifeline service to AIRVOICE (and acknowledges doing so will result in loss of the Lifeline benefit with their former Lifeline service provider) prior to initiating a benefit transfer.

<u>Marketing Materials</u>. The Company includes the following information regarding its Lifeline service on all marketing materials describing the service: (1) it is a Lifeline service, (2) Lifeline is a government assistance program, (3) the service is non-transferable, (4) only eligible consumers may enroll in the program, (5) the program is limited to one discount per household; (6) that documentation is necessary for enrollment; and (7) the name of the ETC (AirVoice Wireless).<sup>32</sup> These statements are included in all print, audio video and web materials (including social networking media) used to describe or enroll customers in the Company's Lifeline service offering.<sup>33</sup> This specifically includes the Company's website as well as outdoor signage.<sup>34</sup> In addition, the application forms state that consumers who willfully make a false statement in order to obtain the Lifeline benefit can be punished by fine or imprisonment or can be barred from the program.

### G. Company Reimbursements from the Fund

To ensure that AIRVOICE does not seek reimbursement from the Fund without a subscriber's consent, the Company certifies, as part of each reimbursement request, that it is in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> The Household Worksheet is available at <u>https://www.usac.org/lifeline/additional-requirements/forms/</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> See 2012 Lifeline Reform Order ¶ 275; 47 C.F.R. § 54.405(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> See 2012 Lifeline Reform Order ¶ 275; 47 C.F.R. § 54.405(c).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> See 2012 Lifeline Reform Order ¶ 275; 47 C.F.R. § 54.405(c).

compliance with all of the Commission's Lifeline rules and, to the extent required, has obtained valid certification and verification forms from each of the subscribers for whom it is seeking reimbursement.<sup>35</sup> Further, the Company will comply with the Commission's requirement to use a first day of the month uniform snapshot date to request reimbursement from USAC for the provision of Lifeline support.<sup>36</sup> In addition, the Company will keep accurate records as directed by USAC<sup>37</sup> and as required by section 54.417 of the Commission's rules.

### H. Annual Company Certifications

The Company submits an annual FCC Form 481 filing to the Commission by July 1<sup>st</sup> of each year, providing the Company's business and affiliate information, terms and conditions of any voice telephony plans offered to Lifeline subscribers, and all other required information and certifications.<sup>38</sup> The Company also submits an annual Form 555 filing to the Commission certifying, under penalty of perjury, that the Company: (1) has policies and procedures in place to ensure that its Lifeline subscribers are eligible to receive Lifeline services; (2) that the Company is in compliance with all federal Lifeline certification procedures; and (3) that the Company is in compliance with the minimum service levels set forth in 47 C.F.R. §54.408.<sup>39</sup> The Company provides the results of its re-certification efforts, performed pursuant to section 54.410(f) of the Commission's rules, as amended, annually by January 31<sup>st</sup>, for its re-certification efforts of the previous year.<sup>40</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> See 2012 Lifeline Reform Order ¶ 128; 47 C.F.R. § 54.407(d).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> See 47 C.F.R. § 54.407(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> See id. at § 54.407(e).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> See id. at § 54.422.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> See id. at § 54.416(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> See id. at § 54.416(b).

# **II.** Description of Lifeline Service Offerings<sup>41</sup>

AIRVOICE will offer its Lifeline service in the service areas in the states where it is designated as an ETC and throughout the coverage area of its respective underlying provider(s), currently AT&T and T-Mobile. AIRVOICE's Lifeline-supported services will meet or exceed the minimum service standards set forth in 47 C.F.R. § 54.408. AIRVOICE offers its Lifeline service under the brand designation "FeelSafe Wireless."

AIRVOICE's current wireless Lifeline offering based upon minimum service standards effective December 1, 2020 consists of the following plan option(s):

PLAN DESCRIPTION	VOICE	TEXT	DATA	LIFELINE PRICE
1000 Voice/500 Text/ 4.5 GB Data	1000	500 (SMS)	4.5 GB	\$0.00

In addition to allotments of voice, text and broadband services, AIRVOICE's current wireless Lifeline offering includes a free handset or SIM card and access to custom calling features at no charge, including Caller ID, Call Waiting, and Voicemail. All wireless Lifeline plans include domestic long-distance at no extra per minute charge. Calls to 911 emergency services are always free, regardless of service activation or availability of minutes. Lifeline customers can purchase additional minutes or data through customer service, the Company's website, Point of Sale locations, and through IVR. Additional information regarding the Company's wireless Lifeline plans, rates and services can be found on its website (https://www.feelsafewireless.com/).

# III. Demonstration of Financial and Technical Capabilities and Certifications Required for ETC Designation<sup>42</sup>

<u>Financial and Technical Capabilities</u>. Section  $54.202(a)(4)^{43}$  requires carriers petitioning for ETC designation to demonstrate financial and technical capability to comply with the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> See Compliance Plan Public Notice at 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> See Compliance Plan Public Notice at 3.

Commission's Lifeline service requirements,<sup>44</sup> and the Compliance Plan Public Notice requires that carriers' compliance plan include this demonstration. Among the factors the Commission will consider are the following: a carrier's prior offering of service to non-Lifeline subscribers, the length of time the carrier has been in business, whether the carrier relies exclusively on Lifeline reimbursement to operate; whether the carrier receives revenues from other sources and whether the carrier has been the subject of an enforcement action or ETC revocation proceeding in any state.

Pursuant to the terms of the Membership Interest Purchase Agreement dated May 17, 2021, 2021, by and among AirVoice Wireless, LLC, a Michigan limited liability company; Jim Bahri, Falah Bahri, Wail Dickow, Kenny Hannawa, Nick Hannawa, and Kyle Hannawa, all individual residents of the State of Michigan (hereafter collectively the "Seller"); and VTel Holdings, LLC, a Texas Limited liability company (hereinafter the "Buyer" or "VTel"), Buyer will purchase one hundred percent (100%) of the membership interests of AIRVOICE (the "Transaction"). The consummation of the Transaction is contingent upon any required regulatory approval, including this Revised Compliance Plan and FCC Section 214 international approval.

VTel is a Texas limited liability company with its principal offices located at 9920 Brooklet Drive, Houston, Texas 77009. VTel was created for purposes of the Transaction. VTel has established considerable financial resources that will be available, as needed, to support AIRVOICE in its operations and continuing growth. VTel is wholly owned by Henry Hung Do, a United States citizen and resident of the State of Texas. Henry Hung Do also owns 100% of: (a) Cintex Wireless, LLC d/b/a SFone Wireless, a Delaware limited liability company ("Cintex"), that provides non-Lifeline wireless services throughout the United States, and provides Lifeline-only

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> See 47 C.F.R. § 54.202(a)(4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> See 2012 Lifeline Reform Order ¶¶ 387-388 (revising Commission rule 54.202(a)(4)).

wireless services in Arkansas, Maryland, Maine, Rhode Island and West Virginia, in which it has been designated as an ETC to provide Lifeline services to low-income consumers; (b) NewPhone Wireless, LLC, a Louisiana limited liability company, that provides Lifeline-only wireless services in Louisiana in which it has been designated as an ETC to provide Lifeline services to low-income consumers, and is authorized to provide non-Lifeline wireless services throughout the United States; (c) HTH Communications, LLC, a Texas limited liability company, a global and one of the largest mobile device distributors in the United States, which has been in business for more than thirteen (13) years; and (d) SofTel Technologies, a Texas limited liability, that provides distribution services to Lifeline-only wireless providers. Neither VTel nor any of its affiliates have foreign ownership and, like AIRVOICE, are not foreign carriers or affiliated with foreign carriers in any market.

VTel brings to AIRVOICE not only financial stability, but also managerial and technical resources available to VTel through its affiliates which have been providing telecommunications service and handsets, including wireless Lifeline service, for over thirteen (13) years. VTel and its affiliates receive revenue from a number of sources which are independent from the revenue it receives in the form of Lifeline reimbursements, such as the following wholesale and non-Lifeline wireless services: income from the sale of prepaid wireless services to non-Lifeline consumers as well as the sale of replenishment airtime minutes and data to Lifeline consumers, the sale of various other ancillary services, and the sale of wireless handsets. VTel will similarly move forward with AIRVOICE operations such that AIRVOICE provides non-Lifeline services wholly separate from and/or complementary to its Lifeline services. AIRVOICE has provided non-Lifeline wireless services since 1999, and will continue to do so after the closing of the Transaction. Consequently, AIRVOICE never has and will not be relying exclusively on Lifeline reimbursement for its operating revenues. Under current ownership, neither VTel nor its affiliates

have been subject to enforcement sanctions related to the Low Income Fund or ETC revocation proceedings in any state.<sup>45</sup> Cintex and NewPhone currently provide wireless Lifeline services to approximately 75,000 subscribers.

With respect to technical expertise, VTel and its affiliates have considerable experience complying with the requirements of the federal Lifeline program. In addition, key members of AIRVOICE's current operations team will remain with the Company post-Transaction, continuing to work on day-to-day operations. As a result, the Transaction will bring together AIRVOICE's current valued personnel, and the full strength of VTel and its affiliates' proven telecommunications capabilities and business expertise, particularly with respect to compliance and marketing in the low-income consumer sector. As a result, VTel's ownership will enable AIRVOICE to achieve measurable growth at the same time as it develops improved operating efficiencies, both necessary components for the Company to thrive. In addition, the Transaction will not result in any loss or impairment of service for any customer, and customers will continue to receive their existing services at the same or better rates, terms, and conditions currently in effect.

Service Requirements Applicable to the Company's Support. The Compliance Plan Public Notice requires carriers to include "certifications required under newly amended section 54.202 of the Commission's rules."<sup>46</sup> AIRVOICE certifies that it will comply with the service requirements applicable to the support the Company receives.<sup>47</sup> AIRVOICE's Lifeline supported voice services will meet the minimum service standards set forth in 47 C.F.R. § 54.408. AIRVOICE's Lifeline

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Pursuant to a Membership Interest Purchase Agreement dated February 6, 2019, Henry Hung Do purchased 100% of the equity of Cintex. Pursuant to an Order and Consent Decree adopted on December 22, 2017, Cintex settled a Notice of Apparent Liability with the FCC (See File No. EB-IHD-13-00010671).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Compliance Plan Public Notice at 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> See 47 C.F.R. § 54.202(a)(1).

supported broadband services will meet the minimum service standards set forth in 47 C.F.R. § 54.408 for mobile broadband internet access services, including for service speed and data usage allowance, as such standards are updated on an annual basis. To the extent AIRVOICE provides devices for use with Lifeline-supported broadband service, such devices will meet the equipment requirements set forth in 47 C.F.R. § 54.408(f), and AIRVOICE will not impose an additional or separate tethering charge for mobile data usage below the minimum standard.

The Company provides all of the telecommunications services supported by the Lifeline program and will make the services available to all qualified consumers throughout the states in which it is designated as an ETC. The Company's services include broadband Internet access service ("BIAS"), a supported service as of December 2, 2016, as well as voice telephony services that provide voice grade access to the public switched network or its functional equivalent. Further, the Company's wireless service offerings included in Section II *supra* provide its customers with a set number of minutes of use at no additional charge to the customer beyond the monthly plan rate, and can be used for local and domestic toll service.

The Company also will provide access to emergency services provided by local government or public safety officials, including 911 and E911 where available, and will comply with any Commission requirements regarding E911-compliant handsets. As discussed above, the Company will comply with the Commission's applicable forbearance grant conditions relating to the provision of 911 and E911 services and handsets (when applicable).

Finally, AIRVOICE will not provide toll limitation service ("TLS"), which allows lowincome consumers to avoid unexpected toll charges. However, since AIRVOICE is a prepaid service provider, customers cannot be disconnected for failure to pay toll charges, nor are there additional charges for exceeding their preset minutes. The Company, like most wireless carriers, does not differentiate domestic long-distance toll usage from local usage and all usage is paid for in advance. Pursuant to the 2012 Lifeline Reform Order, subscribers to such services are not considered to have voluntarily elected to receive TLS.<sup>48</sup>

### IV. Conclusion

AIRVOICE submits that its Revised Compliance Plan fully satisfies the conditions set forth in the Commission's 2012 Lifeline Reform Order, the Compliance Plan Public Notice and the Lifeline rules. Timely approval of this Revised Compliance Plan is essential to allow AIRVOICE to consummate the ownership change as described herein and demonstrably strengthen the Company's operating capabilities to the direct benefit of its Lifeline customers. Accordingly, the Company respectfully requests that the Commission expeditiously approve the revisions to its Compliance Plan.

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Lance J.M. Steinhart

Lance J.M. Steinhart Managing Attorney Lance J.M. Steinhart, P.C. 1725 Windward Concourse, Suite 150 Alpharetta, Georgia 30005 (770) 232-9200 (Phone) (770) 232-9208 (Fax) E-Mail: lsteinhart@telecomcounsel.com

Legal and Regulatory Counsel

May 17, 2021

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> See 2012 Lifeline Reform Order ¶ 230.

# EXHIBIT A ORGANIZATIONAL CHARTS

### **Pre-Transaction**



### **Post Transaction**



# EXHIBIT 3

**Coverage Area** 

zip type decomr	nis: primary_ci acceptable unacceptal state	county timezone area_code
84001 STANDARE	0 Altamont Boneta UT	Duchesne America/D 435
84002 STANDARE	0 Altonah UT	Duchesne America/D 435
84003 STANDARE	0 American I Highland Am Fork, T UT	Utah Coun America/D 385,801
84004 STANDARE	0 Alpine UT	Utah Coun America/Denver
84005 STANDARE	0 Eagle Mou Eagle Mtn, Lehi, Sarat UT	Utah Coun America/D 385,801
84006 STANDARE	0 Bingham C Bingham C Bingham UT	Salt Lake C America/D 801
84007 STANDARE	0 Bluebell Upalco UT	Duchesne America/D 435
84008 STANDARE	0 Bonanza UT	Uintah Coι America/D 435
84009 STANDARE	0 South Jordan UT	Salt Lake C America/Denver
84010 STANDARE	0 Bountiful N Salt Lake Val Verda UT	Davis Cour America/D 801
84013 STANDARE	0 Cedar Valle Eagle Mou Cedar Fort UT	Utah Coun America/Denver
84014 STANDARE	0 Centerville UT	Davis Cour America/D 801
84015 STANDARE	0 Clearfield Clinton, Su Anchorage UT	Davis Cour America/D 385,801
84017 STANDARE	0 Coalville Wanship Hoytsville, UT	Summit Cc America/D 435
84018 STANDARE	0 Croydon UT	Morgan Cc America/D 801
84020 STANDARE	0 Draper UT	Salt Lake C America/D 801
84021 STANDARE	0 Duchesne Bridgeland Arcadia UT 0 Dugway Terra UT	Duchesne America/D 435
84022 STANDARE 84023 STANDARE	0 Dugway Terra UT 0 Dutch Johr Red Canyo Greendale UT	Tooele Col America/D435Daggett Cc America/D435
84025 STANDARE	0 Farmington UT	Davis Cour America/D 385,801
84025 STANDARE	0 Fort Duche Gusher, Ot Bottle Holl UT	Uintah Col America/D 435
84027 STANDARE	0 Fruitland UT	Duchesne America/D 435
84028 STANDARE	0 Garden City Pickleville, UT	Rich Count America/D 435
84029 STANDARE	0 Grantsville Lakeside, S Burmester UT	Tooele Coi America/D 435
84031 STANDARE	0 Hanna Defas Park UT	Duchesne America/D 435
84032 STANDARE	0 Heber City Daniel, Ma Center Cre UT	Wasatch C America/D 435
84034 STANDARE	0 Ibapah Callao UT	Tooele Coi America/D 435
84035 STANDARE	0 Jensen UT	Uintah Coι America/D 435
84036 STANDARE	0 Kamas Francis, Hi Black Rock UT	Summit Cc America/D 435
84037 STANDARE	0 Kaysville Fruit Heigh West Kays <sup>,</sup> UT	Davis Cour America/D 385,801
84039 STANDARE	0 Lapoint UT	Uintah Coι America/D 435
84040 STANDARE	0 Layton East Laytor UT	Davis Cour America/D 801
84041 STANDARE	0 Layton West Laytc UT	Davis Cour America/D 801
84042 STANDARE	0 Lindon UT	Utah Coun America/D 385,801
84043 STANDARE	0 Lehi Eagle Mou Cedar Pass UT	Utah Coun America/D 385,801
84044 STANDARE	0 Magna Pleasant G UT	Salt Lake C America/D 801
84045 STANDARE	0 Saratoga S Eagle Mountain, Eagle UT	Utah Coun America/D 385,801
84046 STANDARE	0 Manila Green Lake UT	Daggett Cc America/D 435
84047 STANDARE	0 Midvale Cottonwd Cushing, U UT	Salt Lake C America/D 801
84049 STANDARE	0 Midway UT	Wasatch C America/D 435
84050 STANDARE	0 Morgan Mountain Littleton, NUT	Morgan Cc America/D 801
84051 STANDARE 84052 STANDARE	0 Mountain Home UT 0 Myton UT	Duchesne America/D 435 Duchesne America/D 435
84052 STANDARL 84053 STANDARL	0 Myton UT 0 Neola UT	Duchesne America/D 435
84053 STANDARL 84054 STANDARL	0 North Salt N Salt Lake Nsl UT	Davis Cour America/D 801
84055 STANDARE	0 Oakley UT	Summit Cc America/D 435
040JJ JIANUARL	υ σακίεγ ΟΙ	Jummit Cu America/D 435

84056 STANDARE	0 Hill AFB Hill Air For Hillfield U	JT
84057 STANDARE	0 Orem Bonnie, Bu L	JT
84058 STANDARE	0 Orem Vineyard Bonnie, Bul	JT
84059 STANDARE	0 Vineyard Orem L	JT
84060 STANDARE	0 Park City Deer Valley, Mayflow (	JT
84061 STANDARE	0 Peoa Rockport L	JT
84062 STANDARE		JT
84063 STANDARE	0 Randlett L	JT
84065 STANDARE	0 Riverton Bluffdale, I Camp Willi L	JT
84066 STANDARE	0 Roosevelt Ballard Ioka, Leetc L	
84067 STANDARE		JT
84069 STANDARD	•	JT
84070 STANDARE	0 Sandy Midvale Belmont H L	
84071 STANDARE	•	JT
84072 STANDARE	1 ,	JT
84072 STANDARE 84073 STANDARE		JT
84073 STANDARL 84074 STANDARL	0	
84075 STANDARE	,	JT
84076 STANDARE		JT
84078 STANDARE	0 Vernal Naples Dry Fork, N L	
84080 STANDARE		JT
84081 STANDARE	0 West Jorda W Valley C W Jordan, L	
84082 STANDARE	0	JT
84083 STANDARE	0 Wendover Greenhave Gold Hill L	JT
84084 STANDARE	0 West Jordan W Jordan L	JT
84084 STANDARE 84085 STANDARE		JT JT
	0 Whiterocks	
84085 STANDARE	0 Whiterocks	JT JT
84085 STANDARE 84086 STANDARE	0 Whiterocks L 0 Woodruff L	JT JT JT
84085 STANDARE 84086 STANDARE 84087 STANDARE	0 Whiterocks L 0 Woodruff L 0 Woods Crc W Bountiful, West Bo L	JT JT JT JT
84085 STANDARE 84086 STANDARE 84087 STANDARE 84088 STANDARE	0 Whiterocks L 0 Woodruff L 0 Woods Crc W Bountiful, West Bo L 0 West Jordan W Jordan L	JT JT JT JT JT
84085 STANDARE 84086 STANDARE 84087 STANDARE 84088 STANDARE 84092 STANDARE	0 WhiterocksU0 WoodruffU0 Woods Crc W Bountiful, West BoU0 West JordanW Jordan0 SandyAlta, Cotto Belmont H0 SandyCottonwd Hts, Cotton U	JT JT JT JT JT
84085 STANDARE 84086 STANDARE 84087 STANDARE 84088 STANDARE 84092 STANDARE 84093 STANDARE	0 WhiterocksU0 WoodruffU0 Woods Crc W Bountiful, West BoU0 West JordanW Jordan0 SandyAlta, Cotto Belmont H0 SandyCottonwd Hts, Cotton U	TI JT JT JT JT JT JT
84085 STANDARE 84086 STANDARE 84087 STANDARE 84088 STANDARE 84092 STANDARE 84093 STANDARE 84094 STANDARE	0WhiterocksU0WoodruffU0Woods Crc W Bountiful, West BoU0West JordanW JordanU0SandyAlta, Cotto Belmont H UU0SandyCottonwd Hts, Cotton UU0SandyWhite CityU0South Jord RivertonDaybreak, U	TI JT JT JT JT JT JT
84085 STANDARE 84086 STANDARE 84087 STANDARE 84088 STANDARE 84092 STANDARE 84093 STANDARE 84094 STANDARE 84095 STANDARE	0WhiterocksU0WoodruffU0Woods Crc W Bountiful, West BoU0West JordanW JordanU0SandyAlta, Cotto Belmont HU0SandyCottonwd Hts, CottonU0SandyWhite CityU0South Jord RivertonDaybreak, U0HerrimanRivertonU	TI JT JT JT JT JT JT
84085 STANDARE 84086 STANDARE 84087 STANDARE 84088 STANDARE 84092 STANDARE 84093 STANDARE 84094 STANDARE 84095 STANDARE 84096 STANDARE	0     Whiterocks     U       0     Woodruff     U       0     Woods Crc W Bountiful, West Bo     U       0     West Jordan     W Jordan     U       0     West Jordan     W Jordan     U       0     Sandy     Alta, Cotto Belmont H U     U       0     Sandy     Cottonwd Hts, Cotton     U       0     Sandy     White City     U       0     South Jord Riverton     Daybreak, U     U       0     Herriman     Riverton     U     U       0     Orem     U     U     U     U	
84085 STANDARE 84086 STANDARE 84087 STANDARE 84088 STANDARE 84092 STANDARE 84093 STANDARE 84094 STANDARE 84095 STANDARE 84096 STANDARE 84097 STANDARE 84098 STANDARE	0     Whiterocks     U       0     Woodruff     U       0     Woods Crc W Bountiful, West Bo     U       0     West Jordan     W Jordan     U       0     West Jordan     W Jordan     U       0     Sandy     Alta, Cotto Belmont H U     U       0     Sandy     Cottonwd Hts, Cotton     U       0     Sandy     White City     U       0     South Jord Riverton     Daybreak, U     U       0     Herriman     Riverton     Daybreak, U     U       0     Orem     U     U     U       0     Park City     Snyderville Kimball Jur U     U	
84085 STANDARE 84086 STANDARE 84087 STANDARE 84088 STANDARE 84092 STANDARE 84093 STANDARE 84094 STANDARE 84095 STANDARE 84096 STANDARE 84097 STANDARE 84098 STANDARE 84101 STANDARE	0     Whiterocks     U       0     Woodruff     U       0     Woods Crc W Bountiful, West Bo     U       0     West Jordan     W Jordan     U       0     Sandy     Alta, Cotto Belmont H     U       0     Sandy     Cottonwd Hts, Cotton     U       0     Sandy     White City     U       0     South Jord Riverton     Daybreak, U     U       0     Herriman     Riverton     Daybreak, U     U       0     Orem     U     U     U       0     Park City     Snyderville Kimball Jur U     U       0     Salt Lake C Salt Lake Cty, Slc     U	דע דע דע דע דע דע דע דע
84085 STANDARE 84086 STANDARE 84087 STANDARE 84088 STANDARE 84092 STANDARE 84093 STANDARE 84094 STANDARE 84095 STANDARE 84095 STANDARE 84097 STANDARE 84098 STANDARE 84101 STANDARE 84102 STANDARE	0     Whiterocks     U       0     Woodruff     U       0     Woods Crc W Bountiful, West Bo     U       0     West Jordan     W Jordan     U       0     West Jordan     W Jordan     U       0     Sandy     Alta, Cotto Belmont H L     U       0     Sandy     Cottonwd Hts, Cotton     U       0     Sandy     White City     U       0     South Jord Riverton     Daybreak, U     U       0     Herriman     Riverton     Daybreak, U     U       0     Orem     U     U     U       0     Park City     Snyderville Kimball Juru U     U       0     Salt Lake C Salt Lake Cty, Slc     U	דו דו דו דו דו דו דו דו דו דו דו דו
84085 STANDARE 84086 STANDARE 84087 STANDARE 84088 STANDARE 84092 STANDARE 84093 STANDARE 84094 STANDARE 84095 STANDARE 84096 STANDARE 84097 STANDARE 84098 STANDARE 84101 STANDARE 84102 STANDARE	0     Whiterocks     U       0     Woodruff     U       0     Woods Crc W Bountiful, West Bo     U       0     West Jordan     W Jordan     U       0     West Jordan     W Jordan     U       0     Sandy     Alta, Cotto Belmont H U     U       0     Sandy     Cottonwd Hts, Cotton     U       0     Sandy     White City     U       0     South Jord Riverton     Daybreak, U     U       0     Herriman     Riverton     Daybreak, U     U       0     Orem     U     U     U       0     Park City     Snyderville Kimball Jur U     U       0     Salt Lake C Salt Lake Cty, Slc     U     U       0     Salt Lake C Salt Lake Cty, Slc     U     U	דו דו דו דו דו דו דו דו דו דו דו דו דו דו
84085 STANDARE 84086 STANDARE 84087 STANDARE 84088 STANDARE 84092 STANDARE 84093 STANDARE 84094 STANDARE 84095 STANDARE 84096 STANDARE 84097 STANDARE 84098 STANDARE 84101 STANDARE 84103 STANDARE 84104 STANDARE	0     Whiterocks     U       0     Woodruff     U       0     Woods Crc W Bountiful, West Bo     U       0     West Jordan     W Jordan     U       0     West Jordan     W Jordan     U       0     Sandy     Alta, Cotto Belmont H L     U       0     Sandy     Cottonwd Hts, Cotton     U       0     Sandy     White City     U       0     South Jord Riverton     Daybreak, U     U       0     Orem     U     U       0     Orem     U     U       0     Salt Lake C Salt Lake Cty, Slc     U       0     Salt Lake C Salt Lake Cty, Slc     U       0     Salt Lake C Salt Lake Cty, Slc     U	דת דד דד
84085 STANDARE 84086 STANDARE 84087 STANDARE 84088 STANDARE 84092 STANDARE 84093 STANDARE 84094 STANDARE 84095 STANDARE 84096 STANDARE 84097 STANDARE 84098 STANDARE 84101 STANDARE 84102 STANDARE 84103 STANDARE 84104 STANDARE	0     Whiterocks     L       0     Woodruff     L       0     Woods Crc W Bountiful, West Bo     L       0     West Jordan     W Jordan     L       0     West Jordan     W Jordan     L       0     Sandy     Alta, Cotto Belmont H L     L       0     Sandy     Cottonwd Hts, Cotton     L       0     Sandy     White City     L       0     South Jord Riverton     Daybreak, L     L       0     Orem     L     L       0     Orem     L     L       0     Salt Lake C Salt Lake Cty, Slc     L     L       0     Salt Lake C Salt Lake Cty, Slc     L     L       0     Salt Lake C Salt Lake Cty, Slc     L     L       0     Salt Lake C Salt Lake Cty, Slc     L     L       0     Salt Lake C Salt Lake Cty, Slc     L     L       0     Salt Lake C Salt Lake Cty, Slc     L     L       0     Salt Lake C Salt Lake Cty, Slc     L     L       0     Salt Lake C Salt Lake Cty, Slc     L     L       0 <td>דת דד דד דד</td>	דת דד דד
84085 STANDARE 84086 STANDARE 84087 STANDARE 84088 STANDARE 84092 STANDARE 84093 STANDARE 84093 STANDARE 84094 STANDARE 84095 STANDARE 84096 STANDARE 84097 STANDARE 84098 STANDARE 84101 STANDARE 84103 STANDARE 84103 STANDARE 84104 STANDARE 84105 STANDARE 84105 STANDARE	0     Whiterocks     L       0     Woodruff     L       0     Woods Crc W Bountiful, West Bo     L       0     West Jordan     W Jordan     L       0     West Jordan     W Jordan     L       0     Sandy     Alta, Cotto Belmont H     L       0     Sandy     Cottonwd Hts, Cotton     L       0     Sandy     White City     L       0     South Jord Riverton     Daybreak, L     L       0     Herriman     Riverton     Daybreak, L     L       0     Orem     L     L     L       0     Park City     Snyderville Kimball Jur L     L       0     Salt Lake C Salt Lake Cty, Slc     L     L       0     Salt Lake C Salt Lake Cty, Slc     L     L       0     Salt Lake C Salt Lake Cty, Slc     L     L       0     Salt Lake C	יד אר אר אר אר אר אר אר אר א
84085 STANDARE 84086 STANDARE 84087 STANDARE 84088 STANDARE 84092 STANDARE 84093 STANDARE 84094 STANDARE 84095 STANDARE 84095 STANDARE 84096 STANDARE 84097 STANDARE 84101 STANDARE 84102 STANDARE 84103 STANDARE 84104 STANDARE 84104 STANDARE 84105 STANDARE 84105 STANDARE 84107 STANDARE	0     Whiterocks     U       0     Woodruff     U       0     Woods Crc W Bountiful, West Bo     U       0     West Jordan     W Jordan     U       0     West Jordan     W Jordan     U       0     Sandy     Alta, Cotto Belmont H U     U       0     Sandy     Cottonwd Hts, Cotton     U       0     Sandy     White City     U       0     South Jord Riverton     Daybreak, U     U       0     South Jord Riverton     Daybreak, U     U       0     Orem     U     U     U       0     Orem     U     U     U       0     Salt Lake C Salt Lake Cty, Slc     U     U       0     Salt Lake C Salt Lake Cty, Slc     U     U       0     Salt Lake C Salt Lake Cty, Slc     U     U       0     Salt Lake C Salt Lake C Salt Lake C Salt Lake     U     U       0     Salt Lake C Salt Lake C Salt Lake C Salt Lake     U     U       0     Salt Lake C Salt Lake C Salt Lake C Salt Lake     U     U       0     Salt Lake C Millcreek, S S	דת דר
84085 STANDARE 84086 STANDARE 84087 STANDARE 84088 STANDARE 84092 STANDARE 84093 STANDARE 84093 STANDARE 84094 STANDARE 84095 STANDARE 84096 STANDARE 84097 STANDARE 84098 STANDARE 84101 STANDARE 84102 STANDARE 84103 STANDARE 84104 STANDARE 84105 STANDARE 84105 STANDARE 84106 STANDARE 84107 STANDARE	0     Whiterocks     U       0     Woodruff     U       0     Woods Crc W Bountiful, West Bo     U       0     West Jordan     W Jordan     U       0     West Jordan     W Jordan     U       0     Sandy     Alta, Cotto Belmont H     U       0     Sandy     Cottonwd Hts, Cotton     U       0     Sandy     White City     U       0     Sandy     White City     U       0     South Jord Riverton     Daybreak, U     U       0     Herriman     Riverton     Daybreak, U     U       0     Orem     U     U     U     U       0     Park City     Snyderville Kimball Jur U     U     U       0     Salt Lake C Salt Lake Cty, Slc     U     U     U       0     Salt Lake C Salt Lake Cty, Slc     U     U       0     Salt Lake C Salt Lake C Salt Lake C Salt Lake U     U     Salt Lake C       0     Salt Lake C Millcreek, S Salt Lake, U     U     Salt Lake C Emigration Canyon, Eu	ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת
84085 STANDARE 84086 STANDARE 84087 STANDARE 84087 STANDARE 84092 STANDARE 84093 STANDARE 84093 STANDARE 84094 STANDARE 84095 STANDARE 84096 STANDARE 84097 STANDARE 84098 STANDARE 84101 STANDARE 84103 STANDARE 84103 STANDARE 84104 STANDARE 84106 STANDARE 84106 STANDARE 84107 STANDARE 84108 STANDARE	0     Whiterocks     U       0     Woodruff     U       0     Woods Crc W Bountiful, West Bo     U       0     West Jordan     W Jordan     U       0     West Jordan     W Jordan     U       0     Sandy     Alta, Cotto Belmont H     U       0     Sandy     Cottonwd Hts, Cotton     U       0     Sandy     White City     U       0     Sandy     White City     U       0     South Jord Riverton     Daybreak, U     U       0     Herriman     Riverton     Daybreak, U     U       0     Orem     U     U     U     U       0     Orem     U     U     U     U       0     Salt Lake C Salt Lake Cty, Slc     U     U     U       0     Salt Lake C Salt Lake Cty, Slc     U     U     U       0     Salt Lake C Salt Lake C Salt Lake C Salt Lake, U     U     Salt Lake C Millcreek, S Salt Lake, U     U       0     Salt Lake C Emigration Canyon, Et U     U     Salt Lake C Millcreek, Salt Lake C U     U	ת א היה א היה א היה
84085 STANDARE 84086 STANDARE 84087 STANDARE 84088 STANDARE 84092 STANDARE 84093 STANDARE 84093 STANDARE 84094 STANDARE 84095 STANDARE 84096 STANDARE 84097 STANDARE 84098 STANDARE 84101 STANDARE 84102 STANDARE 84103 STANDARE 84104 STANDARE 84105 STANDARE 84105 STANDARE 84106 STANDARE 84107 STANDARE	0     Whiterocks     U       0     Woodruff     U       0     Woods Crc W Bountiful, West Bo     U       0     West Jordan     W Jordan     U       0     West Jordan     W Jordan     U       0     Sandy     Alta, Cotto Belmont H     U       0     Sandy     Cottonwd Hts, Cotton     U       0     Sandy     White City     U       0     Sandy     White City     U       0     Sandy     White City     U       0     South Jord Riverton     Daybreak, U     U       0     Herriman     Riverton     Daybreak, U     U       0     Orem     U     U     U     U       0     Park City     Snyderville Kimball Jur U     U     U       0     Salt Lake C Salt Lake Cty, Slc     U     U     U       0     Salt Lake C Salt Lake Cty, Slc     U     U       0     Salt Lake C Salt Lake Cty, Slc     U     U       0     Salt Lake C Millcreek, S Salt Lake, U     U       0     Salt Lake C Millcreek, Salt Lake Ctu <td>ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת</td>	ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת ת

Davis Cour America/D	801
Utah Coun America/D	801
· .	
Utah Coun America/D	801
Utah Coun America/D	801
Summit Cc America/D	435,801
Summit Cc America/D	435
-	
Utah Coun America/D	385,801
Uintah Col America/D	435
Salt Lake C America/D	385,801
Duchesne America/D	435
-	
Weber Col America/D	801
Tooele Coι America/D	435
Salt Lake C America/D	801
-	435
Tooele Coi America/D	
Duchesne America/D	435
Duchesne America/D	435
Tooele Coι America/D	435
Davis Cour America/D	801
Uintah Col America/D	435
Uintah Col America/D	435
Tooele Coι America/D	435
Salt Lake C America/D	801
-	
Wasatch C America/D	435
Tooele Coι America/D	435
Salt Lake C America/D	801
Uintah Coι America/D	435
Rich Count America/D	435
Davis Cour America/D	801
Salt Lake C America/D	801
Salt Lake C America/D	385,801
Salt Lake C America/D	385,801
Utah Coun America/D	801
Summit Cc America/D	435
Salt Lake C America/D	385,801
Salt Lake C America/D	801
Salt Lake C America/D	801
Salt Lake C America/D	801,385
Salt Lake C America/D	385,801
Salt Lake C America/D	385,801
Salt Lake C America/D	385,801
Salt Lake C America/D	801
Salt Lake C America/D	801
Salt Lake C America/D	385,801
Salt Lake C America/D	801
-	

84113 STANDARE	0 Salt Lake C Salt Lake C Fort Dougl U	JT
84114 STANDARE	0 Salt Lake C Salt Lake Cty, Slc U	JT
84115 STANDARE	0 Salt Lake C S Salt Lake Slc, Ssl U	Л
84116 STANDARE	0 Salt Lake C Salt Lake Cty, Slc U	Л
84117 STANDARE	0 Salt Lake C Holladay, Holladay Co U	Л
84118 STANDARE	0 Salt Lake C Kearns, Sal Slc, Taylors U	
84119 STANDARE	0 West Valle S Salt Lake Granger, G U	
84120 STANDARE	0 West Valle Salt Lake C Hunter, Slc U	
84121 STANDARE		Л
84123 STANDARE	0 Salt Lake C Murray, Sa Salt Lake U	
84124 STANDARE	0 Salt Lake C Holladay, Millcreek, Si U	
84128 STANDARE	•	JT
84129 STANDARE	0 Salt Lake C Salt Lake Cty, Taylorsv U	
84133 STANDARE		JT
84138 STANDARE	•	JT
84138 STANDARE		JT
84180 STANDARE	•	JT
84302 STANDARE		
	0 Brigham Ci Perry Brigham, BU	
84304 STANDARE		JT IT
84306 STANDARE		JT IT
84307 STANDARE	0 Corinne Promontor U	
84308 STANDARE		JT 
84309 STANDARE	,	JT 
84310 STANDARE	,	JT 
84311 STANDARE	8	JT 
84312 STANDARE		JT 
84313 STANDARE		JT 
84314 STANDARE	0 Honeyville Crystal Spr U	
84315 STANDARE	I	JT 
84317 STANDARE		JT
84318 STANDARE	1	JT
84319 STANDARE		JT
84320 STANDARE		JT
84321 STANDARE		JT
84324 STANDARE		JT
84325 STANDARE	0 Mendon Petersborc U	IT
84328 STANDARE	0 Paradise Avon U	JT
84329 STANDARE	0 Park Valley Rosette U	JT
84331 STANDARE	0 Portage Washakie U	IT
84332 STANDARE	0 Providence U	JT
84333 STANDARE	0 Richmond U	JT
84335 STANDARE	0 Smithfield Amalga, Benson U	JT
84336 STANDARE	0 Snowville U	JT
84337 STANDARE	0 Tremontor Elwood, Pe Bothwell U	JT
84338 STANDARE	0 Trenton U	JT
84339 STANDARE	0 Wellsville College Wa	ΙT
84340 STANDARE	0 Willard U	Л

Salt Lake C America/D	801
Salt Lake C America/D	801
Salt Lake C America/D	385,801
Salt Lake C America/D	385,801
Salt Lake C America/D	385,801
Salt Lake C America/D	801
Salt Lake C America/D	
	385,801
Salt Lake C America/D	801,385
Salt Lake C America/D	801
Salt Lake C America/D	385,801
Salt Lake C America/D	801
-	
Salt Lake C America/D	385
America/D	801
Salt Lake C America/D	385,801
Salt Lake C America/D	385,801
Salt Lake C America/D	801
Salt Lake C America/D	385,801
	,
Box Elder ( America/D	435
Cache Cou America/D	435
Box Elder ( America/D	435
Box Elder ( America/D	435
Cache Cou America/D	435
Box Elder ( America/D	435
Weber Col America/D	801
Box Elder ( America/D	435
Box Elder (America/D	435
Box Elder (America/D	435
-	
Box Elder ( America/D	435
Weber Col America/D	801
Weber Col America/D	801
Cache Cou America/D	435
Cache Cou America/D	
	435
Cache Cou America/D	435
Cache Cou America/D	435
Box Elder ( America/D	435
Cache Cou America/D	435
Cache Cou America/D	435
Box Elder ( America/D	435
Box Elder ( America/D	435
Cache Cou America/D	435
Cache Cou America/D	435
Cache Cou America/D	435
Box Elder (America/D	435
Box Elder ( America/D	435
Cache Cou America/D	435
Cache Cou America/D	435
Box Elder (America/D	435
	155

84341 STANDARE	0 Logan Hyde Park, N Logan UT	Cache Cou America/D	435
84401 STANDARE	0 Ogden Hooper, M West Web UT	Weber Col America/D	385,801
84403 STANDARE	0 Ogden South Ogden, South V UT	Weber Col America/D	385,801
84404 STANDARE	0 Ogden Farr West, Marriott, SUT	Weber Col America/D	385,801
84405 STANDARE	0 Ogden Riverdale, South Ogde UT	Weber Col America/D	801
84414 STANDARE	0 Ogden Harrisville, North Ogd UT	Weber Col America/D	801
84501 STANDARE	0 Price Carbonville UT	Carbon Co America/D	435
84511 STANDARE	0 Blanding White Mesa UT	San Juan C America/D	435
	-		435
84515 STANDARE	0 Cisco UT	Grand Cou America/D	
84520 STANDARE	0 East Carbon UT	Carbon Co America/D	435
84521 STANDARE	0 Elmo UT	Emery Cou America/D	435
84525 STANDARD	0 Green River UT	Emery Cou America/D	435
84526 STANDARE	0 Helper Scofield Castle Gate UT	Carbon Co America/D	435
84529 STANDARE	0 Kenilworth UT	Carbon Co America/D	435
84532 STANDARE	0 Moab Castle Vall Arches, Ca UT	Grand Cou America/D	435
84533 STANDARE	0 Lake Powe Bullfrog, H Fry Canyor UT	Kane Coun America/D	435
84535 STANDARE	0 Monticello UT	San Juan C America/D	435
84540 STANDARE	0 Thompson Green Rive Thompson UT	Grand Cou America/D	435
84542 STANDARE	0 Wellington East Wellir UT	Carbon Co America/D	435
84601 STANDARE	0 Provo UT	Utah Coun America/D	801,385
84602 STANDARE	0 Provo Byu UT	Utah Coun America/D	801,385
84604 STANDARE	0 Provo Provo Canyon, Sundar UT	Utah Coun America/D	385,801
84606 STANDARE	0 Provo UT	Utah Coun America/D	385,801
84621 STANDARE	0 Axtell UT	Sanpete Cc America/D	435
84623 STANDARE	0 Chester UT	Sanpete Cc America/D	435
84624 STANDARE	0 Delta Deseret, O Woodrow UT	Millard Co America/D	435
84627 STANDARE	0 Ephraim Snow Colle UT	Sanpete Cc America/D	435
	•	•	435
84629 STANDARE	0 Fairview Indianola, Birdseye, NUT	Sanpete Co America/D	
84630 STANDARE	0 Fayette UT	Sanpete Cc America/D	435
84631 STANDARE	0 Fillmore Flowell UT	Millard Col America/D	435
84635 STANDARE	0 Hinckley Abraham Topaz UT	Millard Cor America/D	435
84642 STANDARD	0 Manti UT	Sanpete Cc America/D	435
84645 STANDARE	0 Mona Rocky Ridge, Rocky Ri-UT	Juab Count America/D	801,435
84647 STANDARE	0 Mount Ple Mt Pleasant UT	Sanpete Cc America/D	435
84648 STANDARE	0 Nephi UT	Juab Count America/D	435
84651 STANDARE	0 Payson Elk Ridge Spring Lak( UT	Utah Coun America/D	801
84653 STANDARE	0 Salem Woodland Hills, Wood UT	Utah Coun America/D	801
84654 STANDARE	0 Salina Gooseberr UT	Sevier Cou America/D	435
84655 STANDARE	0 Santaquin Genola UT	Utah Coun America/D	801
84660 STANDARE	0 Spanish Fo Benjamin Cover Brid, UT	Utah Coun America/D	385,801
84663 STANDARE	0 Springville UT	Utah Coun America/D	385,801
84664 STANDARE	0 Mapleton Springville UT	Utah Coun America/D	385,801
84667 STANDARE	0 Wales UT	Sanpete Cc America/D	435
84701 STANDARE	0 Richfield Venice Bowery Ha UT	Sevier Cou America/D	435
84712 STANDARE	0 Antimony Angle UT	Garfield Cc America/D	435
84712 STANDARE 84713 STANDARE	0 Beaver Cove Fort, UT	Beaver Col America/D	435
	-		
84714 STANDARE	0 Beryl Beryl Junct UT	Iron Count America/D	435

84717 STANDARE	1 Bryce Canyon	UT
84720 STANDARE	0 Cedar City Enoch, Pintura	UT
84721 STANDARE	0 Cedar City Enoch Pintura	UT
84722 STANDARE	0 Central	UT
84724 STANDARE	0 Elsinore	UT
84728 STANDARE	0 Garrison Bethel, Es	k UT
84731 STANDARE	0 Greenville Adamsville	UT
84732 STANDARE	0 Greenwich	UT
84733 STANDARE	0 Gunlock	UT
84737 STANDARE	0 Hurricane Apple Valley	UT
84738 STANDARE	0 Ivins Kayenta	UT
84739 STANDARE	0 Joseph	UT
84741 STANDARE	0 Kanab Big Water, Glen Cany	ιUT
84742 STANDARE	0 Kanarraville	UT
84743 STANDARE	0 Kingston	UT
84744 STANDARE	0 Koosharen Burrville Fish Lake	UT
84745 STANDARE	0 La Verkin	UT
84747 STANDARE	0 Loa Fremont	UT
84751 STANDARE	0 Milford Burbank	UT
84753 STANDARE	0 Modena Uvada	UT
84754 STANDARE	0 Monroe Austin, Central Valley	,UT
84757 STANDARE	0 New Harmony	UT
84759 STANDARE	0 Panguitch Spry	UT
84762 STANDARE	0 Duck Creel Duck Crk Vlg	UT
84765 STANDARE	0 Santa Clara	UT
84766 STANDARE	0 Sevier	UT
84770 STANDARE	0 Saint Geor St George Diamond	v UT
84773 STANDARE	0 Teasdale Grover	UT
84774 STANDARE	0 Toquerville	UT
84775 STANDARE	0 Torrey Caineville,	
84779 STANDARE	0 Virgin	UT
84780 STANDARE	0 Washington	UT
84781 STANDARE	0 Pine Valley	UT
84782 STANDARE	0 Veyo Brookside	UT
84783 STANDARE	0 Dammeror Dammeror Dammero	
84790 STANDARE	0 Saint Geor St George Bloomingt	UT

Garfield (	Cc America/D	435
Iron Cour	nt America/D	435
Iron Cour	nt America/D	435
Washingt	o America/D	435
Sevier Co	u America/D	435
Millard C	o America/D	435
Beaver Co	οι America/D	435
Piute Cou	ın America/D	435
Washingt	o America/D	435
Washingt	o America/D	435
Washingt	o America/D	435
Sevier Co	u America/D	435
Kane Cou	ın America/D	435
Iron Cour	nt America/D	435
Piute Cou	ın America/D	435
Sevier Co	u America/D	435
Washingt	o America/D	435
Wayne Co	οι America/D	435
Beaver Co	οι America/D	435
Iron Cour	nt America/D	435
Sevier Co	u America/D	435
Washingt	o America/D	435
Garfield (	Cc America/D	435
Kane Cou	in America/D	435
Washingt	o America/D	435
Sevier Co	u America/D	435
Washingt	to America/D	435
Wayne Co	oı America/D	435
Washingt	to America/D	435
Wayne Co	οι America/D	435
Washingt	o America/D	435
Washingt	to America/D	435
Washingt	to America/D	435
Washingt	to America/D	435
Washingt	to America/D	435
Washingt	o America/D	435

world_re	gi country	latitude	longitude	irs_estimated_population
NA	US	40.35	-110.28	1020
NA	US	40.47	-110.32	93
NA	US	40.39	-111.78	50250
NA	US	40.5	-111.7	10040
NA	US	40.37	-112.02	38070
NA	US	40.59	-112.1	770
NA	US	40.33	-110.2	650
NA	US	40.45	-109.53	0
NA	US	40.55	-111.94	28840
NA	US	40.88		43730
NA	US	40.33	-112.11	1090
NA	US	40.93	-111.88	16370
NA	US	41.12	-112.06	62710
NA	US	40.88	-111.31	3840
NA	US	41.13		153
NA	US	40.49		44980
NA	US	40.1		
NA	US	40.39		430
NA	US	40.94		240
NA	US	40.98		23090
NA	US	40.29		
NA	US	40.15		360
NA	US	41.93		790
NA	US	40.67		12230
NA	US	40.54		118
NA	US	40.43		23630
NA	US	40.06		117
NA	US	40.47		800
NA	US	40.62		7430
NA	US	41.02	-111.92	39480
NA NA	US US	40.39 41.09	-109.84 -111.93	810 25290
NA	US	41.09	-111.93	49910
NA	US	40.34	-111.98	11040
NA	US	40.34	-111.87	70080
NA	US	40.7		26930
NA	US	40.34		33530
NA	US	40.94		600
NA	US	40.62	-111.9	31320
NA	US	40.5	-111.52	6050
NA	US	41.01	-111.67	11670
NA	US	40.41	-110.4	290
NA	US	40.17		1070
NA	US	40.41	-109.99	650
NA	US	40.84	-111.9	20100
NA	US	40.81	-111.11	1680

NA	US	41.12	-111.98	3770
NA	US	40.31	-111.71	35330
NA	US	40.29	-111.72	26100
NA	US	40.31	-111.72	1026
NA	US	40.64	-111.49	8290
NA	US	40.74	-111.36	320
NA	US	40.46	-111.63	44770
NA	US	40.18	-109.71	260
NA	US	40.5	-111.94	47190
NA	US	40.28	-110	11230
NA	US	41.17	-112.04	36600
NA	US	40.34	-112.48	440
NA	US	40.57	-111.89	26520
NA	US	40.39	-112.31	1760
NA	US	40.39	-112.31	500
NA	US	40.38	-110.03	187
			-110.43	
NA	US	40.57		50590
NA	US	41.08	-112.08	30540
NA	US	40.44	-109.84	380
NA	US	40.55	-109.57	25600
NA	US	40.1	-112.43	260
NA	US	40.59	-112.03	48180
NA	US	40.36	-111.43	820
NA	US	40.82	-113.57	1330
NA	US	40.62	-111.98	29340
NA	US	40.55	-109.9	280
NA	US	41.47	-111.23	360
NA	US	40.89	-111.93	15470
NA	US	40.6	-111.96	34760
NA	US	40.56	-111.72	28290
NA	US	40.59	-111.81	22720
NA	US	40.56	-111.86	26320
NA	US	40.55	-111.96	37740
NA	US	40.48	-112.07	59900
NA	US	40.29	-111.67	21990
NA	US	40.71	-111.55	19890
NA	US	40.75	-111.9	5050
NA	US	40.75	-111.86	11380
NA	US	40.79	-111.82	17780
NA	US	40.74	-111.98	22430
NA	US	40.73	-111.85	18420
NA	US	40.7	-111.85	29380
NA	US	40.65	-111.88	30540
NA	US	40.78	-111.73	17840
NA	US	40.7	-111.71	23130
NA	US	40.75	-111.88	8090
NA	US	40.76	-111.84	440

NA	US	40.76	-111.83	40
NA	US	40.77	-111.89	0
NA	US	40.71	-111.89	21390
NA	US	40.81	-111.94	30390
NA	US	40.65	-111.83	22540
NA	US	40.65	-112.01	40130
NA	US	40.05	-111.94	46750
		40.7		
NA	US		-111.99	48110
NA	US	40.62	-111.71	37670
NA	US	40.65	-111.92	34210
NA	US	40.67	-111.79	20540
NA	US	40.7	-112.05	30450
NA	US	40.66	-111.93	0
NA	US	40.76	-111.89	0
NA	US	40.75	-111.88	0
NA	US	40.77	-111.89	0
NA	US	40.77	-111.9	0
NA	US	41.51	-112.04	24430
NA	US	41.82	-111.99	24
NA	US	41.79	-112.06	500
NA	US	41.46	-112.47	1510
NA	US	41.96	-112	270
NA	US	41.71	-112.1	600
NA	US	41.33	-111.79	4700
NA	US	41.82	-112.1	830
NA	US	41.79	-112.17	4160
NA	US	41.79	-112.17	4100 64
NA	US	41.64	-112.09	1190
NA	US	41.15	-112.14	9510
NA	US	41.28	-111.69	2380
NA	US	41.8	-111.8	5270
NA	US	41.6	-111.72	8880
NA	US	41.95	-111.86	2340
NA	US	41.72	-111.84	36780
NA	US	41.49	-111.95	1090
NA	US	41.71	-111.98	2440
NA	US	41.48	-111.77	1850
NA	US	41.74	-113.44	179
NA	US	41.95	-112.27	270
NA	US	41.69	-111.81	8070
NA	US	41.9	-111.81	3040
NA	US	41.82	-111.87	14530
NA	US	41.81	-112.87	320
NA	US	41.69	-112.27	12780
NA	US	41.92	-111.92	470
NA	US	41.62	-111.92	5580
NA	US	41.36	-112.04	3890
INA	03	41.50	-112.04	2020

NA	US	41.78	-111.81	19540
NA	US	41.21	-111.97	35520
NA	US	41.18	-111.91	32720
NA	US	41.24	-112.13	59040
NA	US	41.15	-111.98	30510
NA	US	41.31	-111.96	30660
NA	US	39.57	-110.8	11170
NA	US			
		37.55	-109.48	3980
NA	US	38.98	-109.13	0
NA	US	39.53	-110.43	710
NA	US	39.42	-110.76	570
NA	US	38.98	-110.65	880
NA	US	39.67	-111.01	3310
NA	US	39.68	-110.82	151
NA	US	38.53	-109.55	9330
NA	US	37.57	-110.32	160
NA	US	37.98	-109.29	2170
NA	US	39.18	-109.49	21
NA	US	39.54	-110.74	1430
NA	US	40.22	-111.69	28910
NA	US	40.22	-111.69	261
NA	US	40.33	-111.57	31050
NA	US	40.21	-111.61	19050
NA	US	39.05	-111.83	320
NA	US	39.45	-111.57	300
NA	US	39.29	-112.56	5420
NA	US	39.35	-111.57	4560
NA	US	39.78	-111.44	2760
NA	US	39.29	-111.8	300
NA	US	38.96	-112.39	2930
NA	US	39.4	-112.72	700
NA	US	39.29	-111.62	3340
NA	US	39.85	-111.84	3100
NA	US	39.55	-111.34	3100 3940
		39.55 39.68		
NA	US		-111.83	6460
NA	US	39.96	-111.72	26610
NA	US	40.02	-111.64	10710
NA	US	38.95	-111.83	2430
NA	US	39.99	-111.81	14380
NA	US	40.02	-111.55	43090
NA	US	40.2	-111.47	32830
NA	US	40.12	-111.57	10910
NA	US	39.5	-111.67	360
NA	US	38.75	-112.1	7700
NA	US	38.09	-112	162
NA	US	38.38	-112.66	3960
NA	US	37.87	-113.66	490

NA	US	37.62	-112.17	0
NA	US	37.59	-113.19	17660
NA	US	37.77	-113.08	23600
NA	US	37.39	-113.63	540
NA	US	38.68	-112.14	1070
NA	US	39.3	-113.91	134
NA	US	38.25	-112.85	101
NA	US	38.45	-111.9	46
NA	US	37.24	-113.79	106
NA	US	37.04	-113.21	18210
NA	US	37.18	-113.71	7740
NA	US	38.63	-112.21	370
NA	US	37.27	-112.23	5060
NA	US	37.54	-113.21	440
NA	US	38.23	-112.19	108
NA	US	38.51	-111.87	250
NA	US	37.23	-113.24	3930
NA	US	38.41	-111.64	900
NA	US	38.38	-112.93	1710
NA	US	37.97	-113.86	0
NA	US	38.62	-112.11	3650
NA	US	37.46	-113.26	1410
NA	US	37.86	-112.34	1773
NA	US	37.4	-112.63	220
NA	US	37.13	-113.65	7170
NA	US	38.58	-112.32	83
NA	US	37.18	-113.6	36230
NA	US	38.23	-111.47	250
NA	US	37.26	-113.27	1660
NA	US	37.93	-110.95	400
NA	US	37.33	-113.12	550
NA	US	37.13	-113.49	24770
NA	US	37.41	-113.46	120
NA	US	37.35	-113.66	770
NA	US	37.26	-113.69	770
NA	US	37.06	-113.57	45620

# EXHIBIT 4

# Key Management Bios

David Stewart

Over 25 years of experience in software development including 18 years as owner of Danna Software supporting the IT needs of organizations primarily working in Global Logistics and Supply Chain Management. From evaluating business needs through development, implementation and training I enjoy solving problems and creating streamlined solutions.

Throughout my career I've built relationships with a variety of businesses from small companies of 10 employees or less to Fortune 500's. My companies success has depended on the success of the clients I serve. Over the years serving my clients I have learned how to evaluate a companies needs, business objectives and their own clients needs.

MVNO/Lifeline Operations Manager

HTH Communications, LLC. Dates Employed Mar 2018 – Present Employment Duration 3 yrs 9 mos Location Houston, Texas Area

Owner

Danna Software Dates Employed 1998 – Mar 2018 Employment Duration 20 yrs Location Houston Developing simple software solutions fit to client's needs. Providing turn key solutions from development, implementation and training through life cycle updates adapting to new technologies.

University of Houston

Specialist in development of software solutions supporting global logistics and supply chain management.

### **Emily Shelton**

Experienced Sales Marketing Manager with a demonstrated history of working in the wireless industry. Professionally skilled in event planning, sales, business development, marketing strategy, and sales management.

HTH Communications, LLC. Marketing and Sales Manager Dates Employed Jul 2015 – Present Employment Duration 6 yrs 5 mos Location Houston, Texas Area

Chappell Jordan Clock Galleries Sales Consultant Dates Employed Nov 2014 – Jul 2015 Employment Duration 9 mos Location Houston, Texas Area

Luminess Air Lead Internet Marketing Associate Dates Employed Jan 2011 – Apr 2013 Employment Duration 2 yrs 4 mos Location Houston, Texas Area

Customer Focused Systems Marketing Specialist Dates Employed Jul 2009 – Dec 2010 Employment Duration 1 yr 6 mos Location Houston, Texas

St. Edward's University Degree Name BA

#### **Henry Do**

After entering the professional work market as an accountant and financial analyst, Henry became a business starter and entrepreneur gaining experience with all facets of financial management, including financial budgeting and forecasting, strategic financial planning, general accounting, cost accounting, business support, performance reporting, financial analysis and reporting, consolidations, cash management and banks relations. Henry's strong quantitative, analytical, problem-solving skills and multi-tasking skills, have been used to build a group of companies deeply integrated into telecom/ the mobile wireless service ecosystem from the carrier level to the consumer. HTH's success has fueled the acquisition and founding of multiple complementary affiliate companies, some of them being listed below.

Founder/CEO HTH Communications, LLC. Dates Employed Jul 2008 – Present Employment Duration 13 yrs 5 mos Location Houston, Texas Area

HTH is the vital link to the secondary marketplace. To national carriers, HTH is a trusted vendor delivering the most value for their EOL, returned or excess handset inventory. For regional carriers or MVNO's, HTH is the leading provider of high-quality refurbished devices, logistics and engineering services.

HTH attributes fourteen consecutive years of growth to staying true to these principles:

Quality and Efficiency. HTH has an efficient workforce that boasts of employee longevity. We procure quality products focusing on top-level access and high volumes. We have an in-house software development team that allows us to quickly and cost-effectively modify product for the secondary market. We have a smart and empowered salesforce that become trusted partners to their customers.

Whether its building an IT infrastructure that optimizes workflow and reinforces accountability, or maintaining the world-class portfolio of quality designations including R2, ISO 9001, ISO 14001 and ISO 18001, HTH is committed to operational excellence.

Quality and Efficiency. The HTH beacon.

Owner/CEO Cintex Wireless Dates Employed Feb 2019 – Present Employment Duration 2 yrs 10 mos Location Houston, Texas, United States

Cintex Wireless is one of the nation's leading providers of EBB & Lifeline wireless services in 50 States to those in need. Cintex's subscribers will receive a FREE 4G/5G LTE smartphone along with FREE monthly cell phone service to help them stay connected with family, school services, doctors, and employers. Cell phone service includes nationwide coverage on one of America's largest 5G networks. Our customers enjoy their free phone and free service at absolutely no cost to them. We also offer affordable prepaid wireless cell phone service through SFone Wireless.

#### Hugo Vo

IT Professional with 3 years of experience, and a proven knowledge of hardware engineering, configuration and troubleshooting. Proven ability to develop and implement IT solutions that support business needs.

### HTH Communications, LLC

IT & Development Manager	May 2021 – Present		
IT Support	Jan 2019 – May 2021		
Phone Technician / Helpdesk	Jul 2018 – Jan 2019		
Employment Duration 3 yrs 5 mos			
Location Houston, Texas, U.S			

#### Creative Bay

Web Developer May 2012 – Dec 2013

Employment Duration 1 yr 8 mos

Location Vietnam

UNIVERSITY OF GREENWICH

Degree Name Bachelor of Science (B.S.)

### **EXHIBIT 5**

### **Proposed Lifeline Offering**

### Minutes & Data

1,000 anytime minutes per month 500 text messages per month 4.5 GB data per month LTE or 5G Network Net cost to Lifeline customer: **\$0** 

### **ADDITIONAL AIRTIME**

Available for purchase at www.airtalkwireless.com

## All packages include:

- Free SIM card or Handset
- Free calls to AirVoice Customer Service
- Free calls to 911 emergency services
- Free access to Voicemail, Caller-ID, and Call Waiting features
- Voice minutes may be used for Domestic Long Distance at no extra cost

# **EXHIBIT 6**

# Sample Advertisements

Government Assistance Program

10:30 AM

5

Tablets For \$10.01!

FREE

Samsung S9

Limited

time offer



FEELSAFE WIRELESS

is now



Apply Online at airtalkwireless.com E-mail us at info@airtalkwireless.com Call us toll-free at +1 (855) 924-7825

Unlimited Data is provided by the Affordable Connectivity Program. See Terms & Conditions for additional information. The above devices are available while supplies last. If models are no longer available, a similar device will be offered.

# **Keeping Our Communities Connected**

# ₽₽₽ ₽₽₽ **About Us**

AirTalk Wireless is a program provided by HTH Communications serving eligible American households. The company is an FCC-licensed Eligibility Telecommunication Carrier (ETC) which offers Lifeline and the Affordable Connectivity Program (ACP) to eligible customers across America.



# **Affordable Connectivity** Program

Congress recently created the Affordable Connectivity Program, a long-term, \$14 billion program, which will replace the **Emergency Broadband Benefit** Program. This investment in broadband affordability will help ensure we can afford the internet connections we need for work, school, health care, and more for a long time.

**Why Should You** 

# You Can Qualify if You Participate in One of the **Following Programs:**



Contact Us: Monday - Friday : 8:00 a.m - 5:00 p.m CST & Saturday: 10:00 a.m - 7:00 p.m CST Phone: +1 (855) 924-7825 Website: www.airtalkwireless.com Email: info@airtalkwireless.com